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ABOUT THIS  
REPORT 
This is the first integrated report of Eswatini Royal 
Insurance Corporation (“ESRIC, the Corporation”), and 
with it we endeavour to present a full, coherent, consistent 
and transparent description of the ways in which we create 
value for our shareholders in the short, medium and long 
term, as well as to reflect the material interests of all our 
stakeholders. 

REPORTING  
BOUNDARY
This report covers the financial year 1 January 2019 to  
31 December 2019 and focuses on our strategy, business 
model, operating context, performance, governance,  
and the material risks and opportunities arising from them 
that we have identified in line with best practice. It is an 
explanation of how we create value in the short, medium 
and long term, which we define as one year, two to three 
years, and three to five years respectively.

REPORTING  
FRAMEWORKS
The report was prepared with regard to the aspirations 
and ideals set out in the principles of the King IV Code on 
Corporate Governance and is also guided by the principles 
and requirements of the International Integrated Reporting 
Council <IR> framework. Our annual financial statements, 
from page 41, were prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

NAVIGATION 
In our report, we endeavour to describe our approach, 
activities and mandate in terms of our capitals, with 
associated icons to aid reference and navigation:

Financial 
Capital

Social and 
Relationship 
Capital

Intellectual 
Capital

Manufactured 
Capital

Human 
Capital

Natural 
Capital

For more on strategy, see page 16.
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ESRIC CORPORATE

PROFIT  
BEFORE TAX
E217 MILLION 

NET INCOME 
AFTER TAX
E158 MILLION  

TOTAL DIVIDENDS 
DECLARED
E78 MILLION

LIFE AND PENSIONS

GWP

E339 
MILLION
(2018: E317 million) 

7.1%

NEP

E332 
MILLION
(2018: E305 million) 

8.9%

INVEST INCOME

E159  
MILLION
(2018: E63 million) 

151.1%

Financial Highlights – 2019 

NON-LIFE

GWP

E519 
MILLION
(2018: E505 million) 

2.9%

NEP

E357 
MILLION
(2018: E351 million) 

1.7%

U/W PROFIT

E146 
MILLION
(2018: E150 million) 

(3.2)%

INVEST INCOME

E35 
MILLION
(2018: E33 million)

8.6%

Key Performance Indicators – 2019 



DIVIDEND

E76 
MILLION
(2018: E137 million)

(79)%

DIVIDEND

E1  
MILLION
(2018: E4 million)

67.5%

Materiality
We consider an issue to be material if it has the potential 
to have an impact on our ability to create value, to exist 
and continue to do business, or on our social relevance 
and our relationships with our stakeholders. Our material 
issues are informed by the expectations and concerns 
of our stakeholders, as well as the social, economic and 
environmental context in which we operate. Our material 
matters, as described on page 20, are linked to the way we 
plan our strategy and the priorities of our management. 

Forward-looking statements
This report contains certain forward-looking statements, 
particularly with regard to the potential of diversifying our 
markets, and the effect of global and domestic economic 
conditions on ESRIC’s strategy, performance and 
operations. These forward-looking statements thus involve 
both known and as yet unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other important factors that could cause our actual results, 
performance or achievements to be materially different from 
the future results, performance or achievements expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking statements.

ESRIC undertakes no obligation to update publicly or release 
any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date of this document, or 
to reflect the occurrence of anticipated events. The forward-
looking statements have not been reviewed or reported on 
by the auditors.

Directors’ statement of responsibility
The Board of Directors (“the Board”), supported by the 
Audit and Risk Committee, acknowledges its responsibility 
for overseeing and ensuring the integrity of this integrated 
report. Executive Management, assisted by the reporting 
team, was responsible for the preparation of this report. The 
Board applied its collective mind to the report’s presentation 
and preparation, and believes it fairly represents the matters 
that have a material effect on our ability to create value. The 
Board accordingly approved this integrated report, which 
was signed on its behalf on 16 July 2020.

Chairman             Director

16 July 2020
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WHO WE ARE

ESRIC has been serving the non-life and life and pensions insurance 
needs of the Eswatini public for 47 years. With customers having 
always been the reason for our existence, we are guided in our 
approach to them and all our stakeholders both by our strategy 
and by our Customer Service Charter. We remain committed 
not only to creating value through these frameworks, but to 
continually improving the ways we do so, in terms of our vision, 
mission and values.

In fulfilling its founding legislation No. 32/1973, 
established by the King’s Order-in-Council, ESRIC 
has succeeded in protecting the valuable assets 
and lives of Emaswati in both domestic and 
commercial risk exposures. Within our product 
range, we have created and re-engineered our 
products to meet the ever-changing needs of  
our clients.  

We are continuously improving our service levels 
and creating a more intimate and personal 
relationship with our customers regardless of their 
geographic locations and economic classification. 
We are driven by our commitment to providing 
total peace of mind through a superior insurance 
experience. 

Our vision
To be the leading provider of insurance and 
related services in our target market and market 
segments in Eswatini, Southern Africa  
and beyond.

Our mission
To be the foremost provider of insurance and 
related services by: 
•  Satisfying the aspirations of our shareholders 

through profitable underwriting 
•  Providing high-quality insurance services  

to the market 
•  Satisfying our policyholders and attracting  

new clients 
•  Providing professional development to our 

staff to enable them to realise their full potential 
•  Contributing to the development of the local 

economy 

Our values
As we drive the objectives of the Corporation  
we shall: 
• Be honest and fair in our dealings 
• Exercise integrity and respect 
•  Encourage innovation by listening  

to stakeholders 
• Be responsible corporate citizens 
• Consistent in dealing with matters 
•  Adhere to best practice of  

corporate governance 
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We are driven by our 
commitment to providing 

total peace of mind 
through a superior 

insurance experience.
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Our operating environment 

Economic activity in Eswatini is contingent upon developments 
regionally, and particularly in South Africa, which is itself subject to 
forces generated by global economic and political factors.

International trends
After strong growth in 2017 and early 2018, global 
economic activity slowed notably in the second half 
of the year under review, reflecting a convergence 
of factors that affected major economies worldwide. 
Global growth was projected to slow from 3.6% in 
2018 to 3.3% in 2019.

The pace of global economic activity remained  
slow, with manufacturing activity in particular 
weakening substantially to levels not seen since  

the global financial crisis of 2008. Rising trade and 
geopolitical tensions, such as those emanating 
from the US-China trade wars and Brexit increased 
uncertainty about the future of the global trading 
system and international cooperation. These rising 
trade barriers and associated uncertainty had an 
impact on business sentiment and activity globally.  
In some advanced economies and China, these 
developments exacerbated cyclical and structural 
slowdowns that were already perceptible.

Our operating structureOur operating structure

Mandla Dlamini
AGM Corporate 

Services

Musa Simelane 
AGM – Non-Life

Simphiwe Dlamini 
Finance Manager

Muzi Zwane 
Group Life and Pensions Manager

Winile Mahlobo
Individual Life Manager  

Mduduzi Dlamini  
AGM – Finance 

and Life

Assistant General Management
(Executive Management)

General Manager Corporate Management Team 

Queen Sibanyoni-Maziya 
Business Development Manager

Sizwe Shongwe 
Marketing and Corporate Communication Manager

Mashumi Gama
IT Manager

Carol Muir
HR and Administration Manager

Teboho Mohapeloa 
Claims Manager  

Bonisile Ndlangamandla 
Manzini Branch Manager 

Sabelo Motsa
Underwriting Manager 

Zama Ngcobo 
General Manager  

Nombuso 
Zwane 
Legal 

Services and 
Company 
Secretary

Wandile 
Mathonsi 

Quality 
Control 

and Risk 
Manager
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Who we are continued

This had a bearing on business confidence, 
investment decisions, and global trade in general. 
Despite increased monetary policy accommodation 
cushioning these tensions on financial market 
sentiment and activity, and a generally resilient 
service sector globally supporting employment 
growth to an extent, the outlook remained 
subdued, with global growth forecast at 3.2%  
in 2019.

Large emerging market economies such as Brazil, 
India, Mexico and Russia were the source of 
further pressures resulting from country-specific 
weaknesses such as geopolitical tensions and  
social unrest.

South Africa
With South Africa having gone into a recession 
after its economy shrank by 0.8% in the second 
quarter of 2018, agriculture, transport and trade 
sectors continued to show only sluggish growth. 
The economy in the main has remained lacklustre, 
partially driven by policy and political uncertainty. 
Investment in manufacturing and development has 
been hampered by indecision regarding the mining 
charter and land redistribution.

The Rand remained vulnerable as foreign capital 
flows adjust to a world of rising developed 
market interest rates, the heightened global trade 
protection, the modest world economic growth 
and increased vulnerabilities in a number of key 
emerging markets, as outlined above. 

Domestic economy
The Kingdom of Eswatini is a small open economy 
and landlocked country bordering Mozambique 
and South Africa. The economy is largely driven  
by the sugar industry and sugar-related products. 
The country imports most goods from South Africa, 
the source of approximately 8% of total imports. 

Petroleum products such as petrol and diesel form 
a large proportion, about 15%, of total imports. 
Eswatini is a member of the Southern African 
Customs Union (“SACU”) and has increasingly 
relied on SACU transfers as a source of fiscal 
revenue and foreign exchange receipts over the  
last few years. 

Our currency, the Lilangeni, is pegged at parity 
with the South African Rand under the Common 
Monetary Area, with the Rand also being legal 
tender in Eswatini. 

Real GDP growth
(annual percentage change)        0.7
Inflation rate, average consumer
prices (annual percentage change) 4.4

(5)
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[Ref: https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/ZAF]

Source: https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/statis_e/wtoi_e.htm
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Since the fiscal crisis of 2010/11, Eswatini’s 
economic performance has improved, underpinned 
by the recovery of revenues from SACU. Growth 
continued to be weak during 2019 as cash flow 
challenges persisted. Most economic indicators 
point to ongoing slowing business activity. 

On the demand side, export growth has slowed 
due to continued sluggish growth in both the  
South African economy and in global demand. 

Inhibited growth
Showing an appreciable decline from 2.4% in 
2018, real GDP growth was estimated at 1.4%  
in 2019, while economic activity was supported 
by growth in manufacturing and agriculture, which 
stabilised following the drought in 2015/16. Fiscal 
challenges continued to impede domestic demand, 
with large domestic arrears generated, constraining 
private sector activity linked to government, thus 
contributing to the inhibited economic growth.  
The construction sector has contracted since 
2017, and there was ongoing weakness in services 
as a result of poor performance in the wholesale, 
retail and public administration subsectors.

With the budget deficit estimated at 7.8% of GDP 
in 2019 (2018: 6.5%), the fiscal situation remained 
weak. Low revenues were outpaced by elevated 
expenditures, particularly transfers, the wage bill, 
and capital outlays. By mid-2019, public debt rose 
to nearly 30% of GDP, with an associated concern 
about sustainability.

The current account surplus increased slightly to 
an estimated 2.4% of GDP in 2019 as exports 
recovered. Nevertheless, official reserves remained 
below the recommended three months of import 
cover, threatening the parity with the South African 
Rand. Inflation was estimated at 2.7% in 2019  
(2018: 4.8%) as utility and food prices  
remained capped. 

Investor confidence
In the short term, inflation is expected to remain low, 
as a result of a freeze on utility costs. In July 2019, 
because of falling prices, the Central Bank lowered 
the discount rate to 6.5% in order to support 
growth. However, the Lilangeni remained under 
pressure because of low investor confidence and 
the ongoing global trade tensions that continued  
to affect emerging markets.

0
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRMAN

Muhawu Maziya | In-coming Chairman

The year under review has been a 
difficult one for the Corporation, 

resulting in the life and non-life section 
of the business recording a 3% 
and 7% increase respectively.   

Overview 
ESRIC derives revenue from the provision of 
non-life insurance, life insurance and pension 
administration services to individuals, businesses 
and corporates.

The overall economic environment in Eswatini  
has seen only sluggish growth in the past few  
years, exerting ongoing pressure on growth 
prospects in businesses across all industries.  
The year under review has been a difficult one  
for the Corporation, resulting in the life and non-life 
section of the business recording a 3% and 7% 
increase respectively.

Operating results
Non-life (short-term) business
During the year to 31 December 2019, the 
Corporation’s operating profit before tax remained 
flat at E185 million compared to the same period 
last year. This was broadly influenced by an 
increase of 15% in the net claims ratio due to 
catastrophic losses incurred in November 2019.
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Life (long-term) business
The life insurance business achieved an operating 
profit of E29 million (2018: E37 million). The primary 
reason for the decrease was the unfavourable 
trading conditions underpinned by slow economic 
growth during the year.

Solvency levels and capital adequacy 
Although the Retirement Funds Act 2005 
requires that a statutory actuarial valuation be 

performed on retirement funds, no methodology 
is prescribed. The statutory valuation basis has 
therefore been set so that it is equivalent to the 
published reporting basis. 

The change in excess of the value of assets 
over liabilities on the published basis for the year 
under review stood at E18.2 million compared to 
a reduction of E8.3 million in the previous year. 
This change in the excess assets can be analysed 
as follows:

Non-life (short-term) business
The Corporation’s non-life (short-term) insurance 
business remains well capitalised with strong 
solvency levels.  As at 31 December 2019, the 
non-life international solvency ratio (net equity 
as ratio to net written premiums) stood at 92% 
(2018: 97%) compared to the industry international 
solvency ratio benchmark of 50%. 

Life (long-term) business
The life insurance business is also well capitalised 
with excess assets over liabilities of E262.5 million 
(2018: E244.3 million).  As at 31 December 2019 
the SRIC’s capital adequacy requirement (CAR) 
was E129.9 million (2018: E118.3 million). 

Dividend declaration
I am pleased that the Corporation’s capital position 
has enabled the Board to recommend a dividend of 
E77.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
(2018: E141.0 million) for payment on 6 July 2020 
to holders of ordinary shares on the register at close 
of business on 18 June 2020. The total dividend of 
E77.7 million comprises:

31 December
2019
E’m

31 December
2018
E’m

Excess assets as at end of reporting period 262.5 244.3
Excess assets as at beginning of reporting period 244.3 252.6

Change in excess assets over reporting period   18.2   (8.3)

The change in excess assets is analysed as follows:
Changes in valuation method assumption 12.5 (3.9)
Other operating profit 9.7 30.8
Dividend paid (4.0) (35.3)

Change in excess assets over reporting period 18.2 (8.3)

E76.4 MILLION
non-life (short-term) business
(2018: E137.0 million) 

E1.3 MILLION
from life (long-term) business
(2018: E4.0 million)
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Message from the Chairman continued

Valuation of the life fund
The actuarial valuation of the life (long-term) insurance business as at 31 December 2019 shows that the value 
of assets exceeds the value of liabilities by E262.5 million (2018: E244.3 million). The excess of assets over 
liabilities gives a realistic and prudent picture of the accumulated profits of the Corporation’s Life operations  
from inception to the valuation date, including the effect of capital injections and transfers to shareholders.  

Bonus declaration to policyholders and 
pension schemes
Bonus recommendation is a significant part of the 
responsibility of the Board. The factors which are 
taken into account include: 
• Bonus to be supported by current year surplus
•  Policyholder expectations of current  

and future bonuses
•  Company policy regarding stabilisation  

of bonus rates
• Solvency position 
•  Pension schemes should receive a return that is 

a fair reflection of the investment return achieved 
on their funds

•  Charges should be made to the fund to allow  
for investment management, any subsidisation  
of administration costs and any cost of 
investment guarantees

•  It is desirable to build up a non-vested account 
and a bonus stabilisation reserve to control the 
cost of guarantees 

•  Comparison is also made with other providers of 
Deposit Administration (“DA”) contracts to 
ensure that rates declared are competitive 

31 December
2019
E’m

31 December
2018
E’m

Total value of assets, net of reinsurance 1 940.7 1 720.2
Total value of liabilities as per balance sheet 1 678.2   1 475.9

Value of policy liabilities as per balance sheet, net of reinsurance 1 639.5 1 436.1
Current and other liabilities as per balance sheet 54.8 84.7

Excess assets 262.5 244.3

Capital adequacy requirement (“CAR”) 129.9 118.3
Ratio of excess assets to CAR (times) 2.0 2.1

The published liabilities are split between the investment business and the insurance business, as per  
IFRS 4 guidelines. In the case of the Corporation, the only investment business is the employee benefit 
deposit administration business. The split is as follows:

31 December
2019
E’m

31 December
2018
E’m

Gross actuarial liabilities – investment business       401.0 351.6
Gross actuarial liabilities – insurance business    1 240.8 1 087.2

Total gross actuarial liabilities    1 641.8 1 438.8

Less reinsurance (2.3) (2.7)
Total net actuarial liabilities 1 639.5 1 436.1
Current liabilities      38.7 39.8

Total liabilities 1 678.2 1 475.9

Summary of assets and liabilities: statutory basis
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Bonus rates declared for policyholders were in line 
with the investment returns achieved over the year, 
which were characterised by continued volatility in 
the markets. The bonus rates declared for 2019 
were as follows:

Embedded value
The embedded value of an insurance company is a 
commonly used calculation to estimate the economic 
value. It comprises two major components:
• The net asset value of the corporation 
• The value of the in-force business (“VIF”)

The net asset value of the Corporation is derived 
from the financial statements.

The VIF of the Corporation represents the present 
value of the future profits arising from its existing 
in-force insurance business. The present value 
of future profits is stated net of tax and the cost 
of holding the minimum prescribed CAR. The VIF 
excludes any goodwill that may be attributable 
to the Corporation as a result of the value of 
future new business or the expectation of the 
achievement of additional operational efficiencies 
in future years.

The total embedded value of ESRIC’s Life business 
as at 31 December 2019 was E218 million, 
compared to E215 million in the previous year, after 
allowing for two times CAR in the 2019 opportunity 
cost of capital to be in line with the ESRIC Dividend 
Policy. This calculation was conducted broadly in 
accordance with the general guidance contained  
in PGN107 issued by the Actuarial Society of  
South Africa (a standard which does not yet apply  
in Eswatini).

Future prospects 
The Corporation’s future is captured in its Strategic 
Plan which is continually revised and adapted to 
remain relevant to changing business environment.  
(For more on strategy, see page 16.) 

Its main focus is to grow the business further, 
despite challenges posed by low economic growth 
and the generally challenging environment. The 
plan considers what issues the organisation 
should address to be fit for the future. The process 
ensured that it identified all those matters that are 
most material, both for our stakeholders and for 
the organisation, to continue to create value in 
the long term. The priority is to raise the standard 
in all operations and to constantly search for 
opportunities to further grow and diversify the 
business. The Corporation will continue to play its 
role in the promotion of a robust, sound and stable 
insurance industry. 

The directors and management are confident that 
ESRIC has the strategy and adequate resources 
to deliver profitable results in both the life and 
non-life sections of the insurance industry in the 
foreseeable future.

Retired Board Members 
Kenneth Mbuli, Dean Adams and Mfanzile Dlamini 
retired at the end of December 2019. I would like to 
take this opportunity to pay special tribute to them 
for their enormous contribution during their tenure 
at the Corporation.

Exit by Bryte Insurance Company Limited 
During the year, one of our shareholders, Bryte 
Insurance Company Limited (“Bryte”), sold its 9% 
shareholding to three existing shareholders: the 
Eswatini Government, the Public Service Pension 
Fund and INBA Holdings Limited. I would like to 
express the gratitude of the Board for the service 
and contribution provided by the representative of 
Bryte on the Board and the business expertise and 
skill imparted to the Corporation’s management. 
(For more on Governance, see page 30.)

Muhawu Maziya | In-coming Chairman
16 July 2020

Pension funds (DA contract)

5%
(2018: 5%) 

Lilunga and Insika savings 
policies

5%
(2018: 5%) 
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
GENERAL MANAGER

Zama Ngcobo | General Manager

Increasing our efficiency has been the 
main focus of our strategic projects whose 

which will result in improved service 
delivery to clients via automation of 

current manual processes’

The overall economic environment in Eswatini has 
seen only sluggish growth in the past few years, 
exerting ongoing pressure on growth prospects in 
businesses across all industries. The year under 
review, therefore, has been a very difficult one 
for the Corporation. The non-life section of the 
business recorded 3% increase in gross written 
premium while the life business grew by 7%.

This has been achieved through managing 
escalation of claims, which resulted it the review 
of the entire supply chain which focused on the 
efficiency of the claims process. 

Our operating context
There has recently been a notable increase in 
the number of players in the insurance market. 
As a result, we continued to experience pressure 
on prices during the year under review more 
specifically on the motor and property classes, 
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leading us to withdraw from under-priced 
and unprofitable business. Our strategy is still 
to underwrite for profitability. (For more on the 
environment in which we operate, see page 3 to 5.)

Strategy
Beginning in 2019, the Corporation’s strategy 
is aimed at growing the business and ensuring  
its sustainability. Growth will be achieved by 
driving new and existing products with both 
existing and new clientele. At the forefront  
of this initiative are our renewed distribution 
channels, online processing and the utilisation 
of retailers. 

Another focus area during the year under review 
is our goal of achieving an orientation towards the 
customer in all of the organisation’s operations. 
All processes were therefore redesigned to be 
customer-facing and to place the customer at the 
heart of the business. 

In addition, the strategy aims to ensure efficiency 
in everything we do. It embraces a culture of 
continuous focus on operational efficiencies. The 
approach therefore was investment in scalable 
systems, processes and delivery channels that 
resolve inefficiencies and duplication of effort. 
The strategy also focuses on diversification 
opportunities that will be pursued as they are 
presented by the current trading environment.  
(For more on strategy, see page 16.) 

Performance in the light of strategy
Despite not achieving growth targets, the overall 
result is in line with our strategy, with its focus on 
growth and profitability. While the business has 
been able to achieve underwriting profitability while 
ensuring that it adapts to the changing market 
conditions, organic growth remained a key focus 
area, driven by an improved and wider intermediary 
network. Further actions during the coming 
financial year, will be to strengthen initiatives to 
attract new and previously uninsured individuals 
and companies. (For more on our performance,  
see IFC.)

Achievements
Increasing our efficiency has been a highlight 
of the year under review, and in that regard, 
implementation of our strategic projects is 

progressing according to plan. An important 
pillar of our strategy addresses the migration to 
digital communication and increasing the use of 
technology not only to market our products and 
services, but also to communicate with our clients. 
In our Motor portfolio, we introduced telematics on 
private car insurance, making information on both 
vehicle and driver easily accessible. Once all our 
projects are completed, the organisation will reap 
the full benefit of increased efficiency in all areas of 
operations including: 
•  Improved service delivery to clients, via 

automation of current manual processes
•  Improved communication with clients and 

intermediaries
•  Reduced reliance on paper, improved electronic 

management and storage of documents 

Another highlight during the year has been the 
expansion of our footprint. In this regard, in line 
with our strategy of increasing the Corporation’s 
footprint in the regions, an additional branch was 
opened in Nhlangano on 1 November 2019.  
This development will provide an opportunity to 
bring services closer to our clients and to pursue 
further growth prospects.  

Stakeholders 
Our stakeholders, including our employees, 
remain the key to the sustainability of the business 
and have an impact in our ability to grow as an 
organisation. During the year under review, we 
continued to pay particular attention to this crucial 
aspect of our business. 

We invested significant effort in training and 
developing of our people across all levels of the 
business. We are developing the requisite skills to 
empower the Corporation to be more effectively 
in the future.  We also continued to review our 
incentive schemes in order to encourage and reward 
performance throughout the organisation.  

At the end of August 2019, employees of the 
Corporation were involved in industrial action 
that lasted six weeks. With contingency plans 
having been put in place, there was only minimal 
disruption to the service to our clients. 

Nonetheless, the incident demonstrated a need 
for closer engagement with our staff so that 
information is regularly, timely and adequately 



disseminated. We remain committed to ensuring 
that dialogue takes place on matters involving 
the welfare of our staff and that we create an 
environment where ESRIC remains the employer of 
choice. (For more on our human capital, see page 25.)

Looking ahead
Our operating environment continues to be 
characterised by concerns over the domestic 
economy. Economic growth, an important driver 
of demand for all types of insurance, remains very 
low, and the economic and business environments 
remains volatile in the short term. 

In addition, investment returns have not been 
satisfactory, requiring even more cognisance of  
the importance of improving underwriting margins. 

In the medium term, the insurance industry will 
continue to experience major regulatory changes  
to protect policyholders and to create more 
prudent standards. There will be an ongoing 
need for our business to ensure that all regulatory 
requirements are complied with, together with 
risk management. 

The Corporation remains in a solid position to 
deliver sustainable growth and sound financial 
results. Management will be guided by the adopted 
strategy which, in reflecting our direction and focus, 
will continue to adapt to the changing dynamics 
of the operating environment. We strongly believe 

that the Corporation has the expertise, knowledge 
and experience to meet the challenges and to 
explore all the opportunities that will be available. 
Management is, however, aware that affordability 
of premiums will remain a major challenge due to 
ongoing economic pressures. 
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OUR STRATEGY

Our revised Strategic Plan was developed by identifying the gaps in 
our approach to both our external and internal operating environment. 
In bridging these gaps, we addressed the business aspect of 
innovation across the organisation. 

Creating value through strategy
In devising and implementing our revised Strategic 
Plan, we examined the challenges faced by the 
Corporation over the last three years. Despite 
operating within a weak economic environment, 
the business has steadily grown, achieving a 
number of milestones, including: 
•  Modernisation through the improvement and 

enabling of our information technology (“IT”) 
systems

• Adoption of the Customer Service Charter
•  The introduction of a balanced scorecard 

performance management 

Review of the Strategic Plan 2016 – 2018 

An analysis of the 2016 – 2018 Strategic Plan was 
conducted and provided lessons learnt for the new 
strategy. The specific strategic objectives in the 
expiring Strategic Plan included: 
•  Growing the business and managing the cost  

of doing business while building a financially 
sustainable organisation 

•  Delivering customer and stakeholder-centricity 
•  Attracting, retaining and building capacity of  

our staff to meet revenue, operational and 
strategic objectives 

Legacy strategic issues identified  
and addressed
•  Lack of effective communication of the strategy 

within the organisation 
•  Misalignment between organisational structure  

and the strategy 
•  Number of objectives exceeded available capacity 
•  Objectives insufficiently formulated, causing 

difficulty in cascading and facilitating the full 
implementation of the performance  
management system 

•  Initiatives not properly linked and aligned to the 
overall strategic objectives 

•  Lack of a formalised monitoring and evaluation 
framework 

•  Lack of resource and ownership-allocation with 
respect to the strategy 

•  Excessive changes within a short period together 
with a lack of change management initiatives

•  A large number of objectives dependent  
on other objectives

Balanced scorecard (“BSC”) methodology 
In formulating our new Strategic Plan, we have 
adopted the BSC framework. The balanced 
scorecard is a strategy-based management tool 
that enables us to align our vision and mission with 
our operations, and, expressed in terms of our 
capitals, it embraces four main perspectives: 
• Financial 
• Customer 
• Internal business processes 
• Learning and growth 

Building sustainability
The first part of our new strategic approach 
consists of building a sustainable organisation that:
•  Comprises talented, competent  

and inspired people
•  Increases our customer and shareholder  

value proposition
•  Promotes and fosters innovation and  

continuous improvement

In order to actualise and augment these basic 
imperatives, we will:
• Further invest in knowledge and IT infrastructure 
• Enhance the capacity of our people 
• Promote innovation throughout our operations 
•  Emphasise continuous improvement and 

standardise operations in order to maximise 
value-add through the critical exercise of 
improving and documenting all our core 
processes 

 For more on IT and HR, see pages 24 and 25 respectively.

Opportunities for growth
The second part of our strategic approach 
considers opportunities that are available  
to grow the business. 

Since inception, ESRIC’s business has been 
restricted to the provision of both life and non-life 



insurance services, focusing only on the Kingdom of 
Eswatini. In considering the opportunities available, 
we propose to amend the vision of the Corporation 
to include participation in other financial services and 
to explore opportunities beyond the borders of the 
country. As these are new ventures, a different set 
of capabilities and a new focus will be required to 
pursue these emerging opportunities.

Our guiding strategic themes  
• Value creation for shareholders 
• Development of ESRIC brand equity 
• Growth 
• Diversification 
• Profitability 
• Sustainability 

Strategic focus areas
Focus area Objective

Business development To grow client base across segment/province/geography and revenue 
sustainability of the business

Customer service To attract and retain customers through market-leading service and quality

Distribution networks 
and broker relations

To develop and maintain mutually beneficial relations with brokers and 
distribution networks

IT and systems To enhance and entrench enabling information systems and technology that 
support benchmarked customer service and optimal business efficiencies

People To recruit, develop and retain people who fit in, and support ESRIC’s vision, 
values and culture

Products To offer a compelling range of products that continuously meets the needs 
of current and future customers

Our strategic priority is to raise standards in 
all our operations and to constantly search for 
other opportunities to further grow and diversify 
the business, with the overall aim of long-term 
sustainability. To facilitate and support the 
corporate strategy to this end, our approach also 
envisages improving the overall standard of our 
corporate governance.

Strategy Action Plan – FY2019 
In implementing our strategic objectives, a Strategy 
Action Plan was put in place during the year under 
review, focusing on: 
• Personalised service to clients 
•  Our existing customer feedback mechanism, 

including training and the inclusion of visitors  
in the feedback pool

•  Continuously improving our Customer Service 
Charter 

•  Our customer call centre, including utilising it to 
drive new business 

• Revamping our customer service centre
• Expanding our footprint 
• Periodically enhancing our core products 

A strategic vision for the future
Heretofore, the vision for ESRIC has been to be the 
foremost provider of both life and non-life insurance 
services in Eswatini. Considering the strategic 
opportunities available, this vision has thus been 
amended to include other financial services and 
to explore opportunities beyond the country’s 
borders. Our new vision is based on the strength 
of the Corporation and the capabilities it has built 
over decades of operation. (For more on our vision, 
mission and values, see page 2.)
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OUR VALUE-CREATION 
BUSINESS MODEL

While mitigating our critical risks in the areas of:
•  New systems implementation 
•  Poor economic growth
•  IT security
•  Regulatory compliance
•  Poor return on investments
•  Erosion of buying power
•  Fraud
•  Inadequate reinsurance
•  Loss of market share

In terms of our pursuit 
of excellence by 
implementing our 
guiding strategic 
themes:
•  Value-creation for 

shareholders
•  Development of brand 

equity
•  Growth
•  Diversification
•  Profitability
•  Sustainability 

INPUTS

Risk transfer through 
the: 
•  Sale of life and non-life 

insurance policies
•  Management of 

insurance risk on behalf 
of customers

•  Careful investment-
mandate selection

•  Maintaining strong 
market share 

•  Managing positive  
brand equity

1
2

3
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Financial capital
• E688.7 million | NEP 
• E216.6 million | PBT

    • E305.0 million | UWP

Intellectual capital
•  Our skills, experience and expertise
•  Policies, processes, systems, service support
•  Documented best practice
•  Operational frameworks
•  Revenue management
• Software

Social and  
relationship capital
•  Our customers
•  Our brokers
•  The Board
•  Employees
•  Community/society
• Media
•  Suppliers and service providers

Natural capital
•  Our energy and water usage

Manufactured capital
• 11 278 sqm | Buildings 
• 7 (seven) | Vehicles
•  Computer infrastructure 

KEY ACTIVITIES



•  Financial certainty
•  Peace of mind for clients and loved ones
•  Protection from unexpected events
•  Mitigation of dire circumstances resulting from 

theft, loss, death, disability and illness 

With trade-offs…
•  The need for staff to learn new business 

processes
•  Disruption of clients’ data due to new system 

migration
•  Increase in capital cost for new business 

processing systems
•  Divided focus between business operations 

with new business systems development
•  Revised job specifications and requirements, 

forcing new skills acquisition

OUTCOME

For more on finance,  
see pages 8 to 11

For more on risk,  
see page 22

For more on HR,  
see page 25

For more on IT,  
see page 24

Stakeholder Capital Outcome

Customers   •  9 232  
| Claims paid out

•  E267 million  
| Paid in benefits

Employees • Fostering leadership 
•  Attracting, developing 

and retaining talent
•  Engaged and 

motivated employees

Brokers •  E651 million  
|  Business generated 
by brokers

•  E88.6 million  
| Commission paid 

Regulators •  Compliance with 
legislation and rules
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We define our material matters as those that have the capacity to 
impede on our ability to perform in terms of our strategy, to create 
and deliver value to our shareholders, or to continue sustainably as 
a business in the short, medium or long term. 
The material matters that we have identified, have a bearing on all our capitals, as shown in the table below.

Material matter Capital affected

Changing regulatory environment   

New competitors   

Weak economic growth   

Knowledgeable and demanding clientele    

Lack of innovation  

Legislation   

Complacency  

Ageing client base   

Cyber fraud   

Climate change   

Unpredictable market performance   

Economic uncertainties  

Technological developments

These material matters give rise to the identification 
of specific risks. 

Managing risk
Managing risk forms part of our intellectual capital, 
and we follow a structured approach to this 
important aspect of our business. Management 
meets with members of the Board annually to 
review the strategy in the light of those risks that 
might impede us in achieving our strategic aims. 

A risk register is drawn up by management,  
and is assessed continuously with tests such as 
network penetration implemented as required in 
order to examine our resilience.  

We follow a structured approach in this, taking into 
account developments identified during the course 
of the year, and the actions required to counter 
them. We follow an enterprise-wide process in 
analysing, assigning responsibilities and monitoring 
and assessing responses. In addition, we 
benchmark our findings in the light of the measures 
our peers in the industry are taking.

There are a number of risks that recur year-on- 
year in insurance, and they therefore continued  
to appear on our list of major risks during the year 
under review. However, the mitigation measures 
associated with these may change if we perceive 
them to have been ineffective.

MATERIAL MATTERS
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Our top nine risks – Financial year 2019

Risk
Rating Risk Progress and mitigation Outlook Effects of mitigation

1
New systems 
implementation

Continuous meetings are 
being held by ESRIC and 
systems service provider to 
attend to issues that are 
hindering progress.

The project continued 
throughout the year and 
various mitigation strategies 
have been employed to 
address any bottleneck.

2
Poor economic 
growth

The Government of Eswatini 
launched an economic 
recovery roadmap that will 
help in the resuscitation of 
the ailing economy.

The Corporation has 
embarked on a vigorous 
marketing strategy to 
increase reach to more 
potential clients.    

The impact of efforts was 
successful on the Life 
business as we exceeded 
growth targets.

3
IT security Constant monitoring and 

periodic review of network 
and web security is 
undertaken by both the IT 
and Risk departments.

A review of the IT general 
controls was conducted 
during the year.

The web security tool was 
able to identify malicious 
attacks on our network,  
and our network security 
environment has been 
strengthened.

Identified weaknesses are 
being attended to by 
management.

4
Regulatory and 
compliance

Management attended to 
gaps identified during the 
review of the Corporation’s 
compliance with key 
legislation.

Management attended to 
the gaps in compliance 
requirements.

5
Poor return on 
investments

The investment strategy  
was approved by the Board. 

This strategy introduced 
revised investment mandates.

The revised investment 
mandate contributed 
positively towards our 
attained investment returns.

OUR TOP NINE RISKS
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Risk
Rating Risk Progress and mitigation Outlook Effects of mitigation

6
Erosion of buyer 
purchasing power

Management undertook an 
exercise in comparing our 
prices with that of the 
market.

The results of the study  
will assist in reviewing  
our product attributes  
and pricing.

7
Fraud An in-depth review of all 

high-risk processes was 
conducted.

A process of reviewing the 
Corporation’s Fraud Policy is 
underway to align it with 
current trends.

Any gaps identified  
during the review were 
immediately attended  
to by management.

The reviewed policy  
will revamp the ethics  
and fraud hotline which  
staff and the general public 
will use to report unethical 
behaviour by staff or service 
providers.

8
Inadequate 
reinsurance and 
failure of a 
reinsurer

The Corporation uses 
highly-rated reinsurance 
brokers and reinsurance 
companies.

Only a small portion is ceded 
with the local reinsurer which 
is not rated.

There were no changes to 
reinsurers during the year 
under review.

9
Loss of market 
share

Aggressive marketing 
initiatives have been 
undertaken. 

Product enhancement and 
development were 
undertaken.

A new branch was opened 
in Nhlangano to expand 
the Corporation’s footprint 
in the Kingdom.

The individual life business 
has shown some growth 
since the Corporation 
increased the number  
of agents.

The products have been 
more competitive, making 
them attractive to clients.

Key
Low risk Medium risk High risk

Improved Deteriorating Unchanged
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Information technology (“IT”)

The IT department forms a key part of our intellectual and human 
capital and, through the use of IT tools to enhance efficiency in our 
business processes, is involved in implementing a data warehouse 
project, reducing downtime for all online processing systems, enabling 
virtual conferencing, implementing the asset-management module and 
enhancing our communication systems.

During the year under review we implemented 
a virtual conferencing facility using the Zoom 
platform, and also completed the upgrade of our 
finance system and incorporated the asset module. 
We have also implemented a centralised telephone 
management system using Voice over Internet 
Protocol (“VoIP”) technology, and in the new 
financial year we are scheduled to complete our 
Mimecast implementation. 

Strategic initiatives 
Our Data Warehouse project, initiated during 2020, 
along with business process documentation and 

mapping, mobile applications and broker portals, 
falls within the project structure to be delivered within 
the three-year Strategic Plan. The development  
of these projects will continue into the short to 
medium term. 

Challenges
The principal challenge faced by the IT department 
is the risk associated with the high dependency 
on human capital with its consequent effect on the 
quality of the department’s work output.   

Our risk heat map
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HR forms part of our human and social and relationship capitals.  
The department works with employees to ensure, on the one 
hand that the business is as productive as possible, and on  
the other, that our employees are enabled towards the achievement 
of superior standards of work performance.

In order to accomplish this, we make use of 
a performance management tool, as well as 
engaging consultants to carry out refresher courses 
on performance management. 

It is vital for the ESRIC team to be familiar with key 
elements such as: 
• Performance contracting
• Constructing performance contracts
•  Understanding the Corporation’s performance 

framework
• Setting their individual performance target
•  Conducting performance reviews in a fair 

transparent manner 

By engaging in this process, employees, with 
their direct reports, identify barriers to effective 
performance and resolve those barriers through 
constant monitoring, coaching and development 
interventions. This results in personal advancement 
as they are assisted in acquiring the desired 
knowledge and skills.  

Talent acquisition
HR plays a pivotal role in recruitment by ensuring 
that we provide fair, responsive and consistent 
recruitment and selection services to both 
departments and applicants. The objective,  
in line with the Strategic Plan, is to ensure that  
the Corporation employs, develops and retains  
a well-qualified workforce.

Consequently, to achieve this objective, 
departmental heads are supported with the provision 
of an efficient and cost-effective recruitment and 
selection process. A turnaround time of recruitment, 
within a month of the vacancy being declared, is 
adhered to, and, in alignment with the strategy, the 
Corporation does its best to select candidates who 
will add value to the business – something viewed 
as strategically key in building ESRIC’s competitive 
advantage in the industry. 

Induction
We conduct an induction programme for new 
employees on their first day of joining the 
Corporation. Subject-matter experts participate  
in the induction process to provide an overview of 
the Corporation’s operations, strategy, culture and 
the reporting structures. 

In addition, the Corporation utilises both 
onboarding and external sourcing for progression 
purposes. Our retention appetite is 90%, and over 
the past three years the Corporation has managed 
to maintain a retention rate of 95%.

HUMAN RESOURCES
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Learning and development

In support of ESRIC’s commitment to employees’ development 
and organisational enrichment, the HR department serves as a 
catalyst for training and development. We endeavour to create, 
promote and foster individual and organisational effectiveness 
for employees by offering diverse and relevant programmes.

Programmes range from certificate level to Masters 
level, and are aligned with our business objectives. 
Our team is continually upskilled on both technical 
and soft skills through training plans that are 
developed after identifying skills gaps with their 
team members, and suggested by employees 
themselves or by team leaders.  Our team skills 
range from first degrees to Masters. Out of the total 
staff complement, 61% have first degrees, 5% have 
Honours degrees, while 3% have their Masters.

The training and development are non-discriminatory, 
and offered across the board. This continuous 
learning and development culture is inculcated 
by encouraging employees to propose individual 
development plans, including soft skills, aligned 
to their departmental objectives. From the outset, 
new employees are integrated into this learning 
and development culture through the induction 
programme in which they receive an overview of 
ESRIC’s culture, values and operations. 

We view this approach as an investment in 
our human capital, and at the same time as 
increasing both technical and soft skills within 
the organisation. In addition, employees are 
encouraged to freely make suggestions and 
collaboratively improve the Corporation’s business.

The learning and development process is carried 
out internally and externally. Consultants are 
engaged to conduct in-house training, and staff 
attend workshops and conferences that add value 
to their jobs and enhance their performance. 

As our team members are encouraged to develop 
themselves, team members are enrolled on a yearly 
basis in technical insurance courses. 

Human resources continued

Enrolment in insurance courses, 2019 and 
2018
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During the year under review, the management team 
attended a leadership development programme 
that equipped them with a wide range of skills. The 
team was also introduced to a reading and sharing 
culture, which encouraged them not only to read, 
but to align book contents to their own business 
environment and to share any resultant lessons from 
each read. The programme was also effective in 
enhancing communication and teamwork. 

Rewards and benefits
ESRIC recognises, motivates and retains 
outstanding employees at all levels. Employees  
are rewarded fairly, transparently and competitively. 
This is achieved through the engagement of 
consultants to carry out periodical job evaluation 
and remuneration reviews. 

The Corporation is committed to implementing 
recommendations emanating from these exercises, 
in order to remain competitive in the industry. 
In support of this aim, we strive to provide a fair 
and performance-based compensation. In addition, 
ESRIC offers benefits, incentives and interventions 
to attract and retain employees, while at the same 
time optimising their health, work-life balance and 
productivity. The Corporation takes cognisance of 
the fact that compensation is the key element for 
successful talent management.

Employee and labour relations
ESRIC recognises its employees’ rights to 
join an appropriate trade union. Of the total 
employee complement, 77% are union members.  
Collaborative relationships are promoted 
between employees, management and employee 
representatives. 

Labour discussions are carried out with integrity 
and a willingness to engage with employee 
representatives whenever the need arises. 
Internally, HR strives to be well organised and 
reliable in handling clients’ complaints, concerns 
and grievances within the stipulated turnaround 
times. Potential issues or conflicts of interest are 
ironed out to make our team feel confident and 
safe. Amongst other important factors, relevant 
policies provide a framework outlining acceptable 
and unacceptable behavioural standards, as well 
as the consequences of any violation.

Employee complement
As at the end of the 2019 financial year we had a 
total complement of 112 employees, 21 temporary 
staff members and one graduate trainee. The 
temporary staff also include a number of interns 
from the various recognised Eswatini institutions.  
All temporary recruits are allocated to technical 
and non-technical departments. 

Since interns are exposed to a working environment 
in this way prior to completing their degrees, 
we are able to positively contribute towards the 
development of young people both intellectually and 
professionally at an early stage of their working lives. 

During the year under review we appointed five 
temporary staff members to permanent positions. 
We strive to be the most preferred employer 
and our efforts are reflected in the year-end staff 
turnover rate of 4%. 
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OUR LEADERSHIP

Gender diversity Age profile

Tenure of the Board

6-10 Years 1-2 years3-5 years

Qaulification of Board Members

4

3 1

6 – 10 years 3 – 5 years 1 – 2 years

Female 
37.5%

60 – 89 
60%

30 – 59 
40%

Male 
62.5%
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Our leadership

Kenneth Mbuli – Chairman (74)  

MA (Hons) Political Economy (Glasgow University)

After working as Assistant Secretary International Trade in the Ministry of Industry, Mines and 
Tourism, Kenneth served as ambassador for Eswatini to the European Community, Kingdom 
of Belgium, The Netherlands, Germany, Italy and Luxembourg. He was also Principal 
Secretary in the Eswatini Ministries of Finance and Labour. He has held directorships in 
a variety of financial and other corporates within Eswatini, and worked as Controller of 
Investments at the Swaziland Investment Company, until his retirement in 2002. In addition, 
he founded three commercial enterprises in the travel and freight industries.

Busangani Mkhaliphi (49) 

International MBA (National Chengchi University – Taiwan); BCom, Accounting (UNESWA); 
Diploma in Accounting Studies (UNESWA)

Busangani serves as Director, Public Enterprise Unit (PEU) in the Eswatini Ministry of 
Finance, where her responsibilities include, among others, establishing performance 
targets for category A public enterprises; monitoring targets; contributing to preparation 
of reports; advising the standing committee on financial policy; attending board meetings 
of selected enterprises; administration of the Public Enterprise Loan Guarantee Fund; 
coordinating and monitoring corporate governance training of the boards of directors of 
public enterprises; advising on issues of restructuring, commercialisation and privatisation 
and preparing a performance model for all public enterprises.

Dean Adams (64)

BA, Economics and Accounting (University of Botswana and Swaziland); Bankers Diploma 
(CAIB) (The Institute of Bankers in South Africa); Senior Management Development 
Programme (Graduate Institute of Management and Technology (GIMT); Executive 
Development Programme (Wings) (Gordon Institute of Business Science); Leadership 
Development Programme (Standard Bank Global Leadership Centre)

After holding various management positions at Standard Bank, Dean became a member 
of the bank’s executive committee, responsible for the formulation of its strategic plan after 
which he was appointed Executive Director of Personal Banking. He was subsequently 
appointed and board member of Standard Bank Swaziland Limited and Stanlib Swaziland 
Limited, after which he was Business Consultant at Nedbank Corporate Division and 
Business Banking, before being appointed a Board member of ESRIC and the Swaziland 
Dairy Board, and a member of Exco at Nedbank Swaziland Limited.

Dean holds certificates in Management, Advances, Credit, Securities, Risk, Foreign 
Exchange, Operations and Finance, and has held external attachments to the Risk and 
Corporate Divisions of Barclays Bank – Kenya, Zimbabwe and Head Office, London. 
In addition, Dean is a Certified Associate of the Institute of Bankers of South Africa.
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Dumisile Ngwenya (60)

Certificate in Accounting and Business Studies (UNESWA); Diploma in Accounting and 
Business Studies (UNESWA); Diploma in Commerce (UNESWA); BCom (UNESWA); 
ACCA – UK (Zambia College of Accountancy Studies); MSc, Leadership and Change 
Management (Leeds Metropolitan University)

Having held various accountancy and senior accountancy positions in the Eswatini 
departments of Customs and Excise, Central Transport Administration (CTA), Ministry 
of Agriculture, Dumisile was appointed Principal Accountant in the Treasury Department 
Fraud and Losses section. She subsequently became Chief Financial Officer: National 
Maize Corporation (NMC), where she was responsible for, among others, the preparation 
of financial statements, audit trail, financial advice, cash flow management, investment 
appraisal and human resources management. In 2014, she was appointed Deputy 
Accountant General, in which role she served until May 2017, after which she was 
appointed Accountant General, a position she continues to occupy.

Mfanzile Dlamini CFC, MIFC, FCCA (60)

BCom (UNESWA); MSc, Accounting and Finance (University of Strathclyde, Scotland); 
ACCA (De Montfort University, UK)

After working as a lecturer at UNESWA, Mr Dlamini conducted Institute of Bankers courses 
at Barclays Bank Swaziland and Swazi Bank, where he was later appointed Head of the 
accounting department. After resuming lecturing, he was appointed by Eswatini Minister of 
Labour to the investment committee of the Public Service Pension Fund, and served also 
as a member of the UNESWA Senate, and was a member also of the university’s budget 
committee. During a period of employment at KPMG, where he was involved in the audits  
of major corporates, Mfanzile served on a ministerial commission of enquiry. He has served 
on several boards as an appointee of various government ministers.

Mfanzile was admitted as a Certified Financial Consultant by the Institute of Financial 
Consultants of Canada. He was also admitted as a Chartered Certified Accountant 
(ACCA), and as a Chartered Accountant CA (SD). He was admitted as a Fellow of the 
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants.

Nico Conradie (57)

BSc (Cum Laude) (University of Stellenbosch); BSc (Hons), Theoretical Physics (University 
of Stellenbosch); MSc (Cum Laude), Reactor Physics (University of Potchefstroom)

Nico was employed at Munich Reinsurance Company in various management roles in 
South Africa and Australia, where he also later served on the executive management team, 
and where he now serves in the position of Member of Executive: Life.

Our leadership continued
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Pieter Bezuidenhout  (59)

Hons BCompt (UNISA); CA(SA) South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA); 
CISA – Certified Information Systems Auditor (EDP Auditors Foundation); HCI – Licentiate 
Member (Insurance Institute of South Africa)

Pieter retired from full-time corporate life in 2014 after having spent 15 years in senior 
finance roles in listed insurance entities. He is non-executive director in companies in 
varied geographies and business sectors spanning agriculture, property, investment 
management, hospitality and financial services. Pieter is also Managing Director of a 
professional practice providing accounting, auditing, tax and consulting services to a range 
of clients based in various tax jurisdictions. 

Nokuthula Manyoha (37)*

BCom (Hons), Financial Accounting (UNISA); BCom Financial Accounting (UCT)

Nokuthula is currently the Financial Director of Old Mutual Insure, after previously having 
been a Finance Executive with the listed insurance group MMI Holdings Limited. She 
is a chartered accountant, with 10 years of management experience and specialist 
knowledge in financial services. As a senior manager at Deloitte, where she provided 
external audit services to clients such as FirstRand Limited and Nedbank, she gained 
expertise in commercial and retail banking and investment management. In other 
commitments, Nokuthula is a Thuthuka mentor in the SAICA initiative to attract learners 
from disadvantaged communities into the CA profession. She has also served on the 
transformation survey committee of the Association for the Advancement of Black 
Accoutants in Southern Africa, and continues to mentor students and articled clerks in the 
profession of accountancy.

* During the year under review, Franklin Sibanda resigned, and was replaced by  
Nokuthula Manyoha, who was appointed on 19 June 2019.



34 ESRIC INTEGRATED REPORT 
2019

Musa Simelane (52) – Assistant General Manager, Non-Life Insurance

BA, Law (UNESWA); LLB (UNESWA)

Musa joined ESRIC in 1996 and worked for 3 years in the Life Division and later spent 
10 years in the Claims department as Claims Administrator. He was Manager in the 
Underwriting department for two years and later appointed Claims Manager. Having 
amassed 15 years of non-life insurance experience, Musa was appointed to his present 
position from 2016 to date. 

Mduduzi Dlamini (51) – Head of Finance and Long-term Business

BCOMM (UNESWA), AAT 111

Mduduzi’s over 20 years’ experience in accounting and finance started at Deloitte & 
Touche (Eswatini) as an Audit Supervisor. He then joined ESRIC in 1998, first as Assistant 
Finance Manager, then in 2007 assumed the position of Risk Management and Quality 
Control Manager. From 2009, he worked as the Corporation’s Finance Manager before 
taking on his present role in 2013.

Mandla Dlamini (57) – Assistant General Manager, Corporate Services 

Certificate in Accounting and Business Studies (UNESWA); AAT Level 111; Diploma in 
Credit Management and Member of the Institute of Credit Managers; Insurance COP; 
Advanced Reinsurance Certificate.

Mandla joined the Corporation in 1989 and has worked in a management capacity  
as Branch Manager, Underwriting Manager, Claims Manager and Assistant General 
Manager: Non-life.   

Zamokuhle Ngcobo (50) – General Manager

BA, Social Science – Economics and Statistics (UNESWA); ACII (Insurance Institute of 
South Africa)

After having begun his career at ESRIC as Underwriting Manager, Zamokuhle served as 
Assistant General Manager (Non-life), prior to being appointed to his present position 
in January 2014 with the mandate to develop and execute the Corporation’s strategy, 
develop and apply policies and directives in collaboration with other members of the 
Executive Management Team, and to ensure good corporate governance. In addition,  
his role involves providing strategic management and leadership guidance to the 
management team and staff, with overall sound financial management and appropriate 
management of human resources, to ensure efficiency and effectiveness of delivery by 
ESRIC to meet the Corporation’s set and agreed objectives.

OUR GENERAL MANAGEMENT 
TEAM
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The Corporation is governed by a unitary board 
which reflects the balance of power, and whose 
size is aligned to the stipulations of the Eswatini 
Royal Insurance Corporation Order and its 
Articles. The Board is also responsible for risk 
governance, including IT governance, and it ensures 
that the Corporation develops and executes a 
comprehensive and robust system of enterprise-
wide risk management. In addition, the Board 
ensures the maintenance of a sound internal 
control system by setting its tone and by providing 
oversight mechanisms. The Board also gives due 
consideration to the diversity of its members.

The Board undertakes to present a fair,  
balanced and comprehensible assessment of the 
Corporation’s financial, environmental, social and 
governance position, performance and outlook in its 
annual integrated report and on its website. Assisted 
by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
(“ARC”), the Board assumes responsibility for the 
integrated annual report and ensures that the report 
fairly represents the performance of the Corporation.

The role of internal audit is outlined in the ARC 
Charter as well as in the Internal Audit Charter, 
both of which are approved by the Board and are 
reviewed annually. The annual Internal Audit plan is 
approved by the ARC.

Corporate governance
The Board is the focal point of corporate 
governance in the Corporation, and is ultimately 
accountable and responsible for its performance 
and affairs, including. 
•  Ensuring that an adequate and effective process 

of corporate governance is established and 
maintained and that it complies with King IV

•  Approving the text contained in the corporate 
governance statement in the annual report and 
the evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board 
committees

The number of committees is commensurate 
with the size of the Board, and their membership 
is drawn from Board members only, although 
non-members and specialists may attend. Decision-
making power rests with the Board, unless formally 
delegated to a committee.

Board composition and structure
The Board comprises 10 members, one of whom is 
the Chairman, as well as other officers and staff as 
the Board may consider necessary. The Chairman 
has a deliberative and casting vote, although a 
Chairman appointed to act in the absence of the 
Chairman has only a deliberative vote.

Of the 10 Directors, six are appointed by the 
Minister and the remaining four by shareholders, 
and are elected at a general meeting of 
shareholders convened in accordance with the 
Memorandum of the Corporation. These directors 
are appointed for a period, not exceeding three 
years, as the meeting may decide, provided that 
the Government will not be entitled to a vote in the 
election of these four directors.

Directors are at liberty to accept appointments to 
other Boards, provided that any such appointment 
is disclosed and does not result in any conflict of 
interest with that of the Corporation.

Audit function
The Corporation maintains an effective and 
independent Internal Audit function that has the 
respect, confidence and cooperation of both the 
Board and management. The Board has a formal 
and transparent arrangement to appoint and 
maintain an appropriate relationship with both the 
Corporation’s internal and external auditors.

Stakeholder relationships
The Board is responsible for ensuring that 
an appropriate dialogue takes place among 
the Corporation, its shareholders and other 
stakeholders. The Board respects the interest 
of its shareholders and other key stakeholders  
within the context of its fundamental purpose. 

Appointment of directors
There is a formal, rigorous and transparent 
process for the appointment, election, induction 
and re-election of directors. The search for Board 
candidates is conducted, and appointments made, 
on merit against objective criteria, which include 
skills, knowledge, experience and independence. 
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The search is also conducted with due regard for 
the benefits of diversity on the Board, including 
gender. The Board also ensures that a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure is in place for 
planning the succession of all key officeholders. 

Induction and orientation of new directors
All new directors undergo an induction process, 
which includes an initial meeting, with a 
comprehensive induction manual, and which may 
be conducted by the Corporation Secretary.

The induction process ensures that:
• The process of decision making is explained
•  The values and expectations of the Board are 

highlighted
•  The key roles of the Board and the expectations 

of the director are discussed
•  The key legal requirements of the director are 

discussed, particularly in terms of behaviour and 
the expectations of the Board

•  The programme also includes a means for the 
director to self-assess their knowledge in key 
areas, and to seek further clarification and 
knowledge where needed

Succession planning 
Having regard to the regulatory framework and in 
consultation with the Minister and shareholders, 

there is a succession plan in place for the 
Chairman, the General Manager (“GM”) and other 
senior management.

The succession plan focuses on long-term 
strategic and mission-critical organisational 
requirements and is a key success factor for the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Board meetings
The Board meets at least four times a year,  
or more frequently as circumstances dictate, 
with the number of meetings sufficient to ensure 
that the Board meets its objectives. All Board 
members are required to attend Board meetings.

Where any director wishes to call an adhoc 
meeting, he or she instructs the Corporation 
Secretary to that effect, and the Corporation 
Secretary gives notice of the meeting.

The Chairman may meet with the GM and/or the 
Corporation Secretary prior to a Board meeting  
to discuss important issues and to agree on 
the agenda.

A General Meeting of the Corporation is held once 
every year, at a time and place determined by the 
Board, with not more than 15 months elapsing 
between any two successive meetings. 

Board meeting attendance

Director 

Meeting date 26 March 19 June 18 September 26 November 

Kenneth Mbuli Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mfanzile Dlamini Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dean Adams Yes Yes Yes Yes

Nico Conradie Yes Yes Yes Yes

Pieter Bezuidenhout Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dumisile Ngwenya Yes Yes Yes Yes

Franklin Sibanda* Yes Yes

Busangani Mkhaliphi Yes Yes Yes Yes

Nokuthula Manyoha No No

* Franklin Sibanda resigned and was replaced by Nokuthula Manyoha, who was appointed 19 June 2019.
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Delegation of authority
Delegation is formal and involves:
•  Formal terms of reference/charter for each 

committee, and is reviewed once a year
•  The committees being appropriately constituted, 

with due regard to the required skills
•  The Board establishing a framework for the 

delegation of authority to management.

The Board committees are:
• ARC
•  Investment and Asset/Liability Matching 

Committee (“ALMIC”)
•  Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

(“RemCom”) 

Our Board committees
The Board appoints committees consisting 
of members of the Board, as it deems fit, and 
delegates any of its powers to these committees.  
It may from time to time revoke any such delegation 
and discharge any committee wholly or in part.

The committees, in the exercise of the powers 
delegated to them by the Board, conform to 
directions that may, from time to time, be imposed 
upon them by the Board.

The committees are required to report to the 
Board, with the Board being obligated to monitor 
and evaluate the activities of committees and 
individuals with delegated authority.

BOARD

The ARC is a Statutory committee of the Board, and is subject to the provisions of the Insurance Act 
2005, King’s Order 1973, Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation Articles of Association.

The committee met four times during the year under review.

Role 
•  To assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the operations of 

systems, control processes and the preparation of accurate financial reports and statements in 
compliance with applicable legal requirements and accounting standards, and align with 
management as it embarks on a risk management programme

•  To oversee and approve the Corporation’s risk management framework and practices

Responsibilities 
•  To consider all factors and risk that may have an impact on the integrity of the Corporation’s 

integrated reporting, and to review the Annual Financial Statements, as well as all management, 
audit and financial reports, methodology, approach and controls

•  To assist the Board in its evaluation of the adequacy and efficiency of risk policies, procedures, 
practices and controls in the Corporation’s day-to-day management of its business

•  Review and approve the risk management infrastructure and the critical risk management policies 
adopted by the Corporation

•  Monitor the implementation of the policy and plan for risk management 
•  Review and approve the risk management plan and all related and compliance-related aspects, 

policies, reviews and risk identification and prioritisation, including matters related to whistleblowing
•  To assist the Board in carrying out its IT responsibilities

ARC 

OUR BOARD COMMITTEES
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Members 
Pieter Bezuidenhout (Chairperson)  Nico Conradie
Mfanzile Dlamini    Dean Adams
Busangani Mkhaliphi    Franklin Sibanda*

Focus areas in 2019 Focus areas FY2020

•  Discussions and reviews of auditors’ reports
•  Monitoring of Swazi observer claims
•  Monitoring of regulatory and legislative 

compliance
• Reviewing IT governance
•  Reviewing finance accounts
•  Discussion of Corporation’s budget
• Charters for all board committees

•  Compliance to regulatory and legislative 
policies

• IT governance 
• Finance and accounts

The committee is constituted as a standing committee of the Board.

The committee met four times during the year under review.

Role
The principal objective of the ALMIC is to prepare and take decisions on matters related to the 
performance management of invested assets of the entities within its scope, while considering  
their liabilities.

Responsibilities
• To assess strategic investments
•  To assess, among others, risks related to liquidity; interest rates; capital solvency; asset/liability 

mismatches and markets

Members 
Mfanzile Dlamini 
(Chairperson)

Pieter Bezuidenhout
Nico Conradie

Busangani Mkhaliphi
Franklin Sibanda*

Focus areas in 2019 Focus areas FY2020

• Investment overviews
• Investment strategy
• Investment position

•  To ensure the recently approved IPS is 
implemented and monitored effectively

INVESTMENT AND ASSET/LIABILITY MATCHING 
COMMITTEE (“ALMIC”) 



The RemCom is constituted as a committee of the Board. 

The committee met twice during the year under review.  

Role 
To assist the Board in its responsibility for:
• Remunerating directors, general and executive management fairly and responsibly
• Setting and administering remuneration policies which are in the Corporation’s long-term interest
• Agreeing overall increase levels based on affordability and other relevant factors
• Ensuring that the disclosure of remuneration is accurate, complete and transparent
•  Making recommendations to the Board on succession, development and appointment at Board, 

general and executive management levels
•  Setting appraisal and assessment criteria and processes for general and executive management and 

agree the performance ratings

Responsibilities 
•  To determine, develop and agree to the Corporation’s Remuneration Policy; oversee the setting, 

efficacy and reporting of remuneration at all levels within the Corporation; and ensure that the 
Remuneration Policy promotes the achievement of the Corporation’s strategic objectives and 
encourages individual performance

•  To oversee the nomination, induction, succession planning and performance assessments  
of directors

Members 
Dean Adams  
(Chairperson)
Mfanzile Dlamini 

Nico Conradie
Pieter Bezuidenhout
Dumisile Ngwenya

Busangani Mkhaliphi
Franklin Sibanda*

Focus areas in 2019 Focus areas FY2020

• Staff welfare
•  Job evaluation and salaries review
•  Relaxation of male dress code
• Approval of new positions
•  Remuneration Charter approval and adoption

•  Creating a succession plan for the Board, 
general and senior members of management 

•  Creating a robust process for performance 
assessment

•  Assess and monitor corporate culture plus 
staff engagement

* Franklin Sibanda resigned and was replaced by Nokuthula Manyoha, who was appointed 19 June 2019.

Our Board committees continued

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE (“REMCOM”) 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements 
of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation. The financial statements presented on pages 52 to 132 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and include amounts 
based on judgements and estimates made by management.

The Directors are also responsible for the Corporation’s system of internal financial control. These are 
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the reliability of the financial 
statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets, and to prevent 
and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and system has occurred during the 
year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have no 
reason to believe that the Corporation will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on 
forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the Corporation.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
who was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all 
meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the board. The Directors believe 
that all representations made to the independent auditor during its audit are valid and appropriate.

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers is presented on pages 43 to 44. The financial statements 
were approved by Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf by:

Chairman Director

16 July 2020 16 July 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2019

To the Shareholders of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Eswatini 
Royal Insurance Corporation (the “Corporation”) as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have Audited
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation’s financial statements set out on pages 52 to 132 comprise:
• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;
• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
• the notes to the financial statements; and
• the summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in Eswatini. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code and other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of 
financial statements in Eswatini.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019”, which includes the Directors’ Report as required by the Companies Act of 
Eswatini. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of Eswatini, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Corporation’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Corporation or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Partner: Makhosazana Mhlanga 
Registered Auditor

P.O Box 569
Mbabane, Eswatini

16 July 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY ACTUARY – 
LIFE BUSINESS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Certification of Financial Position
I hereby certify that:
• The valuation on the statutory basis of the Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation as at 31 December 2019, 

the results of which are summarised below, has been conducted in accordance with, and this Statutory 
Actuary’s report has been produced in accordance with, the Actuarial Society of South Africa Standards 
of Actuarial Practice 104; 

• Assets exceeded liabilities plus the Capital Adequacy Requirements at the valuation date; 
• In my opinion the corporation is financially sound at the valuation date and is expected to remain so far 

the foreseeable future.

Statement of Assets, Liabilities, Excess Assets and Capital Requirements

31 December
2019
E’m

31 December
2018
E’m

Total value of assets, net of reinsurance 1 940.7 1 720.2
Total value of liabilities as per statement of financial position 1 678.2 1 475.9

Value of policy liabilities as per statement of financial position 1 639.5 1 436.1
Current and other liabilities as per statement of financial position 38.7 39.8

Excess assets 262.5 244.3

Capital Adequacy Requirements (“CAR”) 129.9 118.3
Ratio of excess assets to CAR 2.0 2.1

Although the Insurance Act of 2005 requires that a statutory actuarial valuation be performed, 
no methodology is prescribed. The statutory valuation basis has therefore been set so that it is 
equivalent to the published reporting basis, except that the reinsurance asset in the published results 
is set off from policy liabilities for statutory reporting purposes.

Analysis of Change in Excess Assets on Published Reporting Basis
The excess of the value of assets over the value of liabilities has changed as follows over the reporting period:

31 December
2019
E’m

31 December
2018
E’m

Excess assets as at end of the year 262.5 244.3
Excess assets as at beginning of the year 244.3 252.6

Change in excess assets over the year 18.2 (8.3)

This change in the excess assets can be analysed as follows:
Changes in valuation methods and assumptions 12.5 (3.9)
Other operating profit 9.7 30.9
Dividend (4.0) (35.3)

Total change in excess assets 18.2 (8.3)
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY ACTUARY – 
LIFE BUSINESS continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Changes in Published Reporting Valuation Methods or Assumptions
The changes in methods and assumptions had these impacts on the policyholder liabilities:
• Economic basis change decrease of E13.9 million
• Economic basis change increase of E1.4 million

Published Reporting Valuation Methods and Assumptions
Insurance Contracts
Insurance contracts have been valued according to Standard of Actuarial Practice (“SAP”) 104 of the 
Actuarial Society of South Africa. Liabilities are valued as the present value of future cash flows discounted 
at the rate of return assumed on the assets backing the policyholder funds. There is a small portfolio of 
non-profit annuities for which cash flows are discounted using the South African risk-free yield curve. 

Future cash flows are projected on a best estimate basis with an allowance for compulsory margins as 
prescribed by SAP104. Future voluntary premium increases are profitable and are therefore ignored in line 
with the previous version of SAP104. Further discretionary margins have been added in respect of 
expenses and mortality.

No allowance is made for the deferral of acquisition costs and these are expensed when incurred.

Demographic assumptions including mortality and persistency rates are set by the corporation’s 
statutory actuary. There are insufficient numbers of policies to do detailed experience investigations 
but actual experience is compared to that projected by the valuation on an annual basis to ensure that 
assumptions are reasonable. The future development of AIDS mortality is projected in line with the 
ASSA 2003 AIDS model.

Economic assumptions are derived with reference to the yield at the valuation date on the SAM yield 
curve. The investment return assumptions are as follows:
Fixed interest 10.4%
Equities 12.4%
Property 11.4%
Cash 8.4%

Expense inflation is also based on the fixed interest yield and is assumed to be 8.4%.

Future expenses are projected on a per-policy basis where the per-policy expense is derived from actual 
renewal expenses incurred during the last financial period. Renewal expenses are determined by removing 
acquisition costs from the total expenses.

Policyholder reasonable expectations are allowed for by projecting future bonuses in line with future 
investment returns. Bonus stabilisation reserves, have been set up for smoothed bonus products and 
conventional with profits products. 

Investment Contracts
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation has classified its Smoothed Bonus Deposit Administration business 
as investment contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as 
insurance contracts. There are therefore no policies which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participation features.



47ESRIC INTEGRATED REPORT 
2019

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features have been valued in terms of IFRS 4. 
The liability in respect of the smoothed bonus deposit administration business is valued as the historical 
contributions received less charges rolled up at actual historical declared bonus rates (vesting and 
non-vesting). A bonus stabilisation reserve is maintained in respect of any historical investment returns 
earned by the assets backing the liabilities which have not yet been distributed to policyholders in the 
form of bonus declarations.

Published Reporting Asset Valuation Methods and Assumptions
Assets have been valued according to the principles of IFRS, typically at fair value/amortised cost. 
Please refer to the summary of accounting policies section of the financial statements.

Split of Published Liabilities Between Investment and Insurance

31 December
2019

E’000

31 December
2018

E’000

Gross actuarial liabilities – investment business 401 351.6
Gross actuarial liabilities – insurance business 1 240.8 1 087.2

Total gross actuarial liabilities 1 641.8 1 438.8
Less: Reinsurance (2.3) (2.7)
Current liabilities 38.7 39.8

Total liabilities 1 678.2 1 475.9

All reinsurance is on Insurance business.

Statutory Capital Adequacy Requirements
Since Eswatini law does not prescribe a minimum free capital level, the previous version of SAP104 has 
been applied. 

The statutory capital adequacy requirements have been calculated in accordance with section 6 of 
SAP104 of the previous version. For the purpose of grossing up the intermediate ordinary capital 
adequacy requirements (“IOCAR”) to determine the ordinary capital adequacy requirements (“OCAR”), 
an assumed cash holding has been used. The management action available to reduce the OCAR 
requirement is the removal of part of the non-vested bonuses, the removal of terminal bonuses.

The OCAR exceeded the termination capital adequacy requirement (“TCAR”), and thus the capital 
adequacy requirements have been based on the OCAR.

Mark Harrison (FASSA)
Statutory Actuary

16 July 2020
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EMBEDDED VALUE REPORT – LIFE BUSINESS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The embedded value of an insurance Company is a commonly used calculation to estimate the economic 
value for monitoring or sale. It comprises two major components:
• The net asset value of the corporation
• The value of in force business

The net asset value of the Corporation is derived from the financial statements. 

The value of in-force business (“VIF”) of the Corporation represents the present value of the future profits 
arising from the existing in-force insurance business. The present value of future profits will be net of tax 
and of the cost of holding the minimum prescribed CAR. The VIF excludes any goodwill that may be 
attributed to the Corporation as a result of the value of future new business or the expectation of the 
achievement of additional operational efficiencies in future years. 

In the VIF calculation an allowance has been made for expected future tax on investment income on 
shareholder funds as well as tax on operating profit, based on a tax rate of 27.5% as per the Income 
tax act in Eswatini.

The embedded value of the Corporation as at 31 December 2019 was calculated as follows:

31 December
2019

E’000

31 December
2018

E’000

Net asset value 262 477 244 308
Value of in-force insurance business (44 193) (29 589)

Present value of future profits on in-force insurance business 157 907 144 483 
Less: Opportunity cost of capital adequacy requirements (202 100) (174 072)

Total embedded value 218 284 214 719 

We have allowed for two times CAR in the 2019 opportunity cost of capital line item. This is consistent 
with the Corporation’s dividend policy. In previous years, the opportunity cost of capital was calculated 
using one times CAR.

The calculation has been conducted broadly in accordance with the general guidance contained in 
APN107 issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa. However, because of the shortcomings included 
in the full actuarial valuation report, the results cannot be presented as being APN107 compliant and are 
not suitable for publication. These results are subject to the limitations set out in the report.

Given the purpose of this calculation we have not illustrated the sensitivity of the value of in-force 
business to the underlying assumptions, other than to the risk discount rate.
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Projection Assumptions and Methodology
This section of the report sets out the main assumptions and methodology used to calculate the VIF 
in addition to the best-estimate assumptions used in the valuation at 31 December 2019.

The risk discount rate is used to discount future projected profits on the best estimate assumptions in 
order to arrive at the value of in-force business. The risk discount rate is typically set at a margin above 
the assumed future return on equity investments. The size of this margin (or risk premium) will vary 
by entity but generally reflects the perceived risk underlying the achievement of these future profits. 
For purposes of this report a risk discount rate of 16.4% has been used (i.e. 4% above the assumed 
equity return in the valuation). The assumption used as at 31 December 2018 was 16.2%.

The VIF includes the expected value of future premium increases resulting from premium escalation 
arrangements on recurring premium in-force insurance business which should incorporate an expected 
premium escalation take-up rate. This is consistent with the approach adopted at the previous year-end. 

In calculating the VIF it was necessary to use a number of approximations as we were unable to obtain 
sufficient information from the Corporation. These assumptions will need to be tested and revised once 
the information does become available and this may have a significant impact on the value calculated. 

Net Asset Value (“NAV”) and Value of In-force Business (“VIF”)
The NAV is derived from the financial statements of the Corporation. These disclose a NAV of 
E262.5 million.

The VIF is calculated as the present value of the projected stream of future after-tax profits of the 
insurance business in-force at the calculation date.

The Embedded Value at the risk discount rate of 16.4% as at 31 December 2019 (and at 16.2% for 2018) 
was calculated as follows:

31 December
2019

E’000

31 December
2018

E’000

Net asset value 262 477 244 308
Present value of future profits on in-force insurance business 157 907 144 483
Less: Opportunity cost of capital adequacy requirements (202 100) (174 072)

Total embedded value 218 284 214 719
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EMBEDDED VALUE REPORT – LIFE BUSINESS 
continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The Present Value of Future Profits (PVFP) on in-force insurance business before the cost of capital is 
attributed to the various business lines as follows:

31 December
2019

E’000

31 December
2018

E’000

Individual life 92 761 79 877

With profit whole of life 9 9
Endowment assurance (including child products) 6 945 3 338
Lilunga 76 412 69 308
Mortgage protection 7 8
Level and decreasing term assurance (189) 13
Rest in peace 160 169
Retirement annuities 5 6
Noma-kunje 148 144
Annuities in payment 9 243 6 882
Lilunga data reserve 21 –

Group Business 63 615 64 074

Group funeral 29 733 30 122
Group life 26 818 26 891
Group level term assurance 7 064 7 060

PHI 27 61
Present value of shareholder charge on bonus stabilisation reserve 1 504 472

Present value of future profits net of tax 157 907 144 483

(a) Lilunga Business
This is the largest In-force block of policies for the Corporation. They are endowments run on a smoothed 
bonus basis. A more recent version of the product (the “Lien” product) has a reduced initial sum insured, 
rising to the same previous level, as quid pro quo for not undergoing a HIV test.

(b) Insika
This is a product which was launched by ESRIC in 2007 and consists of a basic cover element and a 
voluntary savings rider. The actuaries currently do not model the reserves of this policy and hold a 
prudent reserve of the unit fund value for the savings portion and zero for the risk portion. In light of the 
treatment of the reserves the actuaries decided to also show no VIF for this product until they have a final 
audited model.

(c) Group Business
Group business contributes materially to the total value of PVFP. These products are various forms of 
group life cover and individual credit life covers administered on a group basis.



51ESRIC INTEGRATED REPORT 
2019

(d) Other Policy Types
ESRIC also has a considerable number of conventional policies on the books. The main categories are 
with profits endowments and family style funeral products (the Rest In Peace range). Noma-kunje is also 
part of the Rest In Peace range, offering higher funeral cover than Rest In Peace.

Sensitivity of the Value of In-force Business
The risk discount rate appropriate to an investor depends on the investor’s own requirements, tax 
position and perception of the risks associated with the realisation of the projected future profits of 
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation. It is therefore useful to provide investors with information regarding 
the sensitivity of the results to changes in the risk discount rate.

The sensitivity of the value VIF to changes in the risk discount rate (“RDR”), is set out below:

31 December
 2019

 Central RDR
E’000

31 December
 2019 

RDR = 15.2%
E’000

31 December
 2019

RDR = 17.2%
E’000

Net asset value 262 477 262 477 262 477
Present value of future profits on in-force insurance 
business 157 907 166 289 149 333
Less: Opportunity cost of capital adequacy 
requirements (202 100) (192 775) (210 256) 

Embedded value 218 284 235 990 201 554

Given the specific purpose for which the results set out in this report are intended, no additional 
calculations have been performed to illustrate the sensitivity of the VIF to changes in the underlying 
best-estimate assumptions.

Conclusion
Based on our investigations, the financial statements, our calculation of our liabilities, I am satisfied that 
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation is in a financially sound position as at 31 December 2019.

Mark Harrison (FASSA)
Statutory Actuary

16 July 2020
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
2019

E
2018

E

Insurance premium revenue 9 785 818 710 755 938 582
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers 9 (161 658 764) (161 846 057)

Net insurance premium revenue 9 624 159 946 594 092 525
Fee income from policyholders
– Insurance contracts – Non-life 6 6 477 384 6 601 690
– Insurance and investments contracts – Life 6 14 517 271 15 534 662
Commission income 20 43 590 868 35 905 748
Investment income 3 141 285 142 123 927 667
Net realised fair value gains on financial assets 4.1 19 231 897 43 814 314
Net unrealised fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets 4.2 26 404 910 (82 415 552)
Decrease in investment contracts with DPF 4.3 (22 039 216) (836 390)
Fair value losses on investment property 5 (776 731) (1 464 466)
Interest income from policyholder loans 9 108 082 8 452 728
Other operating income 25 687 10 000

Net income 861 985 240 743 622 926

Insurance contracts benefits – Life 10 (315 945 929) (212 341 913)
Insurance contracts claims and loss adjustment 
expenses – Non-life 10 (125 549 109) (104 844 630)
Insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses 
recovered from reinsurers – Non-life 10 21 268 588 15 402 663

Net insurance benefits and claims (420 226 450) (301 783 880)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance and 
investment contracts 20 (88 572 622) (86 016 444)
Operating expenses 2.1 (126 710 078) (126 817 341)
Asset management expenses 2.2 (9 841 631) (7 473 405)

Expenses (225 124 331) (220 307 190)

Profit before income tax 216 634 459 221 531 855
Income tax expense 7 (59 110 634) (60 277 260)

Profit for the year 157 523 825 161 254 595

Other comprehensive income
(Loss)/gains on revaluation of land and buildings 11, 22 (8 975 324) 600 000

Total comprehensive income for the year 148 548 501 161 854 595
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2019

Notes
2019

E
2018

E

ASSETS
Intangible assets 12 20 953 359 12 946 525
Property, plant and equipment 11 40 134 625 45 523 448
Investment property 13 46 502 194 44 500 000
Deferred income tax asset 16 1 481 422 2 392 467
Right of use assets 40 6 214 515 –
Financial assets – at fair value through profit or loss 14 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183
Financial assets – held-to-maturity 14 20 000 000 –
Deferred acquisition costs 19 9 365 257 9 530 443
Reinsurance assets 18, 30.1 111 433 790 102 564 614
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables 15 192 810 795 172 429 571
Current income tax asset 26 – 4 279 624
Cash and cash equivalents 17 289 699 319 294 412 791

Total assets 2 661 586 787 2 412 649 666

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation’s 
equity holders
Share capital 21 4 000 000 4 000 000
Revaluation reserves 22  20 071 663 29 046 987
Retained earnings 23 573 573 373 557 051 548

Total equity 597 647 036 590 098 535

LIABILITIES
Policyholders’ liabilities 1 974 479 181 1 746 740 806

Insurance liabilities – insurance contracts 30.1 1 573 484 632 1 395 186 534
Insurance liabilities – investment contracts 31 400 994 549 351 554 272

Reinsurance liabilities 24 21 311 505 22 407 198
Insurance and other payables 25 43 327 615 38 737 749
Lease liabilities 40 6 542 703 –
Employee benefit provisions 27 15 275 270 14 665 378
Current income tax liability 26 3 003 477 –

Total liabilities 2 063 939 751 1 822 551 131

Total equity and liabilities 2 661 586 787 2 412 649 666
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to equity holders of the Corporation

Share
capital

E

Retained
earnings

E

Revaluation
reserve

E
Total

E

Year ended 31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 557 051 548 29 046 987 590 098 535
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – 157 523 825 – 157 523 825
Other comprehensive income
Gains on revaluations of land 
and buildings – – (8 975 324) (8 975 324)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 4 000 000 714 575 373 20 071 663 738 697 036

Dividends paid – (141 000 000) – (141 000 000)

At the end of the year 4 000 000 573 575 373 20 071 663 597 647 036

Year ended 31 December 2018
At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 543 096 953 28 446 987 575 543 940
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – 161 254 595 – 161 254 595
Other comprehensive income
Gains on revaluations of land 
and buildings – – 600 000 600 000

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 4 000 000 704 351 548 29 046 987 737 398 535

Dividends paid – (147 300 000) – (147 300 000)

At the end of the year 4 000 000 557 051 548 29 046 987 590 098 535
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
2019

E
2018

E

Cash flow from operating activities
Insurance premiums received 29.1 798 019 316 742 764 611
Investment contract income from pension and 
retirement schemes – net of administration fees 32.1 69 296 326 61 609 680
Reinsurance premiums paid 24.1 (167 261 619) (150 273 176)
Insurance claims paid 30.1.1(a) (300 993 303) (254 279 849)
Reinsurance claim recoveries received 30.1.1(a) 46 293 040 33 828 690
Investment contracts benefit expenses 32.1 (41 895 265) (48 129 370)
Payments to intermediaries to acquire insurance contracts 29.2 (87 668 936) (81 520 810)
Commission income 20 43 590 868 35 905 748
Fees received from policyholders 6 20 994 655 22 136 352
Cash paid to employees and other suppliers for 
services and goods rendered 29.3 (118 506 243) (121 118 484)
Cash received to finance premiums and other receivables 29.5 (24 171 967) (13 064 165)
Interest received on policy loans 9 108 082 8 452 724
Property management expenses 2.2 (297 219) (451 770)
Other operating income 25 688 10 000

Cash flows generated from operations 246 533 423 235 870 181
Income tax paid 26 (50 916 488) (62 965 696)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 195 616 935 172 904 485

Cash flow from investing activities
Capitalised expenditure on investment property 13 (2 778 926) (2 670 048)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (6 779 017) (5 566 215)
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (9 083 162) (12 153 728)
Net movement on financial assets 29.4 (181 538 259) (120 964 052)
Investment income 3 141 285 142 123 927 668

Net cash flows utilised from investing activities (58 894 222) (17 426 375)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders 23 (141 000 000) (147 300 000)
Cash payments for principal portion of lease liabilities (436 185) –

Net cash flows used in financing activities (141 436 185) (147 300 000)

Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents (4 713 472) 8 178 110
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 294 412 791 286 234 681

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 289 699 319 294 412 791
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. General Information
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation (“ESRIC”) underwrites Life and Non-life insurance risks, such 
as those associated with death, disability, health, property and liability.

ESRIC is a limited liability corporation established in 1973 by a King’s Order-in-Council in terms 
of founding legislation No. 32/1973. The Corporation is domiciled in Eswatini and its financial 
statements are expressed in Emalangeni (“E”). The address of its registered office is Insika House, 
Somhlolo Road, Mbabane, Eswatini.

 Financial Statements
The financial statements include the assets and liabilities of the Non-life and the Life insurance 
businesses. The financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Presentation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of land and buildings, investment property, available-for-sale financial assets, 
and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through 
profit or loss.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

Carried at fair value:
• Financial instruments held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss;
• Investment properties and owner-occupied properties;
• Policyholder investment contract liabilities.

Carried at a different measurement basis:
• Policyholder insurance contract liabilities, and related reinsurance assets that are measured in 

terms of the Financial Soundness Valuation (“FSV”) basis as set out in note 2.25 to 
accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Corporation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements have been disclosed in the financial statements.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all years presented and all amounts are 
shown in Emalangeni unless otherwise stated.
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2.1.1 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures 
(a)  International Financial Reporting Standards and Amendments Effective for the First 

Time for the Financial Year Beginning 1 January 2019.
The following new and revised standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB 
and are effective for the current financial year. 

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

IFRS 16 – Leases This standard replaces the current guidance in 
IAS 17 and is a far-reaching change in accounting 
by lessees in particular. 

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a 
distinction between a finance lease (on balance 
sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). 
IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease 
liability reflecting future lease payments and a 
“right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease contracts. 
The IASB has included an optional exemption for 
certain short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets; however, this exemption can only be applied 
by lessees. 

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. 
However, as the IASB has updated the guidance 
on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance 
won the combination and separation of contracts), 
lessors will also be affected by the new standard. 

At the very least, the new accounting model for 
lessees is expected to impact negotiations between 
lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. 

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17: Leases, IFRIC 4: 
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, SIC 15: Operating Leases – Incentives and 
SIC 27: Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

The Corporation has adopted IFRS 16: Leases 
retrospectively from 1 January 2019 but has not 
restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, 
as permitted under the specific transition provisions 
in the standard. The reclassifications and the 
adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are 
therefore recognised in the opening statement of 
financial position on 1 January 2019. The new 
accounting policies are disclosed in note 40.

Annual periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2019 
– earlier 
application 
permitted if 
IFRS 15 is 
also applied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued)
2.1.1 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued) 

(a)  International Financial Reporting Standards and Amendments Effective for the First 
Time for the Financial Year Beginning 1 January 2019 (continued)

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

IFRS 16: Leases 
(continued)

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Corporation recognised 
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had 
previously been classified as “operating leases” under 
the principles of IAS 17: Leases. These liabilities were 
measured at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. 

In applying IFRS 16, for the first time, the 
Corporation has used the following practical 
expedients permitted by the standard:
• applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of 

leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
• relying on previous assessments on whether 

leases are onerous as an alternative to performing 
an impairment review – there were no onerous 
contracts as at 1 January 2019;

• excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of 
the right-of-use asset as the date of initial 
application; and

• using hindsight in determining the lease term 
where the contract contains options to extend or 
terminate the lease.

2019
E

Operating lease commitments 
disclosed as at 31 December 2018 –

Discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate at the 
date of initial application

Add: Finance lease liabilities 
recognised as at 31 December 2018 –

Lease liability recognised as at 
1 January 2019 6 938 888

Of which:
Current lease liabilities 396 185
Non-current lease liabilities 6 542 703

6 938 888

Annual periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2019 
– earlier 
application 
permitted if 
IFRS 15 is 
also applied.
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(b)  International Financial Reporting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Issued 
But Not Yet Effective for the Financial Year Beginning 1 January 2019.

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

Amendment to 
IAS 1: Presentation 
of financial 
statements and 
IAS 8: Accounting 
policies, changes 
in accounting 
estimates and 
errors on the 
definition of 
material. 

These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and 
consequential amendments to other IFRSs: 
• use a consistent definition of materiality through 

IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting; 

• clarify the explanation of the definition of 
material; and

• incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about 
immaterial information. 

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2020.

IFRS 9: Financial 
Instruments
• Financial liabilities
• Derecognition 

of financial 
instruments

• Financial assets

General hedge 
accounting

This standard replaces the guidance in IAS 39. 
It includes requirements on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities; it also 
includes an expected credit losses model that 
replaces the current incurred loss impairment model.

The Corporation has opted to defer the adoption 
of IFRS in line with the guidance contained in the 
Amendment to IFRS 4. Refer to the section below 
for further details.

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2018.

IFRS 17: Insurance 
contracts

The IASB issued IFRS 17: Insurance contracts. 
Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers 
to use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and 
consistent rules that will significantly increase the 
comparability of financial statements. Under IFRS 17, 
the general model requires entities to measure an 
insurance contract at initial recognition at the total of 
the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated 
future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time 
value of money and an explicit risk adjustment for 
non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin. 
The fulfilment cash flows are remeasured on a current 
basis each reporting period. The unearned profit 
(contractual service margin) is recognised over the 
coverage period. Aside from this general model,  
the standard provides, as a simplification, the 
premium allocation approach. 

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2021.

Early application 
is permitted for 
entities that 
apply IFRS 9: 
Financial 
Instruments, 
and IFRS 15: 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers, 
at or before the 
date of initial 
application of 
IFRS 17.

(Published 
May 2017).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (continued)
2.1.1 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued)

(B)  International Financial Reporting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Issued 
But Not Yet Effective for the Financial Year Beginning 1 January 2019 (continued)

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

IFRS 17: Insurance 
contracts 
(continued)

This simplified approach is applicable for certain 
types of contract, including those with a coverage 
period of one year or less. For insurance contracts 
with direct participation features, the variable fee 
approach applies. The variable fee approach is a 
variation on the general model. 
When applying the variable fee approach, the entity’s 
share of the fair value changes of the underlying 
items is included in the contractual service margin. 
As a consequence, the fair value changes are not 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they occur but over the remaining life of the contract.

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2021.

Early application 
is permitted for 
entities that 
apply IFRS 9: 
Financial 
Instruments, 
and IFRS 15: 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers, 
at or before the 
date of initial 
application of 
IFRS 17.

(Published 
May 2017).

2.2 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held by the Corporation for the use in the supply of services or 
its own administration purposes. All property, plant and equipment, other than land and buildings 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Land and 
building (except for investment property – see note 13) include offices and are shown at fair value, 
based on annual valuation by external independent professional valuers, less subsequent 
depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of buildings are credited to revaluation 
reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are 
charged against fair value and other reserves; all other decreases are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income.
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of 
each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings 50 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Office furniture and fittings 10 years
Office computers 3 years

Land is not depreciated. There has been no change to useful lives from those applied in the 
previous financial year. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and 
are included in operating profit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the 
revaluation reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

2.3 Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the directors and management. The directors and management, who are responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, have been identified as the board 
of directors who makes strategic decisions. The principal segments of the Corporation have been 
identified on a primary segment by business unit, being commercial and personal lines for the 
Non-life insurance business and insurance risk contracts and investment contracts for the Life 
business. The basis is representative of the internal structure for management purposes. Segment 
results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of 
the Corporation revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis, whether from 
external transactions or from transactions with other segments.

2.4  Investment Properties 
Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation, or for both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. After initial recognition investment properties are measured at fair value. 

External, qualified independent professional valuers perform valuations periodically. An external, 
independent valuer, having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience 
in the location and category of property being valued, values the portfolio. In the event of a material 
change in market conditions between the valuation date and statement of financial position date an 
internal valuation is performed and adjustments made to reflect any material changes in value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.4  Investment Properties (continued)

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Rental income from investment property is accounted for as described 
in accounting policy 2.12.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a 
change in its use, any differences arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of 
the item immediately prior to transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity if it is a gain. 
Upon disposal of the item the gain is transferred to retained earnings. Any loss arising in this 
manner is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and 
equipment, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting 
purposes. When the Corporation begins to redevelop an existing investment property for 
continued future use as investment property, the property remains an investment property, which 
is measured based on fair value model, and is not reclassified as property, plant and equipment 
during the redevelopment.

2.5  Intangible Assets
 Computer Software Development Costs

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable 
and unique software products controlled by the Corporation are recognised as intangible assets 
when the following criteria are met:
• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the software product are available; and
• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives which do not exceed three years, and have no residual values.
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2.6 Impairment 
The carrying amounts of the Corporation assets are reviewed on an annual basis to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment, other than of a temporary nature. If any such 
indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.

 Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Costs
The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Corporation about the following events:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments;
(iii)  it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;
(iv) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(v)  observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flow 

from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Corporation, including:
• adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors in the Corporation; or
•  national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Corporation.

The Corporation first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant. If the Corporation determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or 
not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loans and receivables 
or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Corporation may 
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.6 Impairment (continued)
 Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Costs (continued)

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis 
of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Corporation’s grading process that 
considers asset type, industry, geographical location, past-due status and other relevant factors).
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets 
by being indicative of the issuer’s ability to pay all amounts due under the contractual terms of the 
debt instrument being evaluated.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved 
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 Impairment of Other Non-financial Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income immediately when 
incurred for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.7 Financial Assets
The Corporation classifies its financial assets at initial recognition into categories, namely held 
at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables. 
The classification depends on the purpose when the asset was acquired and, with the exception 
of those held at fair value through profit or loss, is reassessed on an annual basis.

 Initial Measurement
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, which is the date on 
which the Corporation assumes or transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial assets are initially recognised as follows:
• Fair value through profit or loss – at fair value on trade date.
• Held-to-maturity and loans and receivables – at fair value on trade date plus transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to their acquisition.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or on trade date when they have been transferred and the Corporation has also 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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 Subsequent Measurement
Financial Assets Classified at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss if they are:
(i)  used to match investment contract liabilities held at fair value and/or insurance contract 

liabilities, and this designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition 
inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 
gains or losses on a different basis; or

(ii)  managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. Information about these financial 
assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Corporation’s Investment Committee. 
The Corporation investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt securities and to evaluate 
them with reference to their fair value. Assets that are part of these portfolios are designed 
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value and the fair value adjustments are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within investment gains and losses.

The fair value of financial assets with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets is based on regulated exchange quoted ruling bid prices at the close of business on the 
last trading day on or before the statement of financial position date. If a quoted bid price is not 
available for a dated instrument the fair value is estimated using pricing models or discounted 
cash flow techniques.

Fair values for unquoted instruments are included in investment gains and losses and are 
determined as follows:

Local and Foreign Equities
Whenever available, the Corporation obtains quoted prices in active markets for identical assets at 
the balance sheet date to measure equity securities at fair value. Market price data is generally 
obtained from exchange or dealer markets. For the local equity securities, quoted prices are 
obtained from the Eswatini Stock Exchange (“SSX”) and for those in South Africa, quoted prices 
are obtained from the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”).

Money Markets
The Corporation generally obtain the fair value of these investments from net asset value 
information provided by the general partner or manager of the investments, the financial 
statements of which are generally audited annually by qualified audit firms. The Corporation 
further considers observable market data and perform certain control procedures to validate 
the appropriateness of using the net asset value as a fair value measurement. Any changes in 
the fair value of these investments is recognised in net investment income.

Government and Corporate Bonds
Bonds held-to-maturity are carried at amortised cost when we have the ability and positive intent 
to hold these securities until maturity. When we do not have the ability or positive intent to hold 
bonds until maturity, these securities are classified as available for sale or are measured at fair 
value at the Corporation’s election. Our fixed maturity securities met the criteria for held-to-
maturity classification at 31 December 2019.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.7 Financial Assets (continued)
 Subsequent Measurement (continued)

Financial Assets Classified at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (continued)
Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payment 
dates that are not quoted in an active market other than those that are originated with the 
intention of sale immediately or in the short term or that has been designated at fair value through 
profit and loss. Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any required impairment. 
These comprises of:

Insurance Receivables
Insurance receivables consist of premiums owed by brokers and policyholders and commission 
owed by re-insurers. 

Loans and Receivables Excluding Insurance Receivables
Loans and receivables excluding insurance receivables consist of premium receivables, staff loans 
and other receivables. 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. An estimate is made for impairment of loans and receivables based on a review of all 
outstanding amounts at year-end.

2.8 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise of policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the raising of the funds.

The measurement of policyholder liabilities under investment contracts is described in note 2.23 in 
the accounting policies.

Third party liabilities are effectively demand deposits and are consequently measured at fair value 
which is the quoted unit values as derived by the fund administrator with reference to the rules of 
each particular fund. The instruments in this category are designated as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Fair value gains or losses are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

2.9 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For purposes 
of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with banks, other non-life highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities on 
the statement of financial position.

2.10 Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the 
Corporation expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,  
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain.

The Corporation recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to 
be derived from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contract.

2.12 Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services in the 
ordinary course of the Corporation’s activities. Revenue is recognised as follows;

 Premium Income
Premiums on insurance contracts are recognised when due in terms of the contract. Premiums 
receivable in respect of corporate schemes are recognised when there is reasonable assurance of 
collection in terms of the policy contract. Premium income on insurance contracts is shown gross 
of reinsurance where applicable. Premiums are shown before deduction of commission. 

Premium income received in advance (Unearned Premiums Reserve) is included in insurance 
liabilities – Insurance contracts (note 30.1)

 Fees
Revenue arising from asset management and other related services offered by the Corporation 
are recorded in the accounting period in which the services have been offered.

Fees consist mainly of investment and insurance contracts management fees with the issue and 
management of such contracts where the Corporation actively manages the consideration 
received from its customers to fund the return that is based on the investment profile that the 
customer selected on origination of the instrument. In all cases, these services comprise of an 
indeterminable number of acts over the life of the individual contracts.

The Corporation uses the following different approaches;
• regular fees are charged to the customer periodically (monthly) either directly or by making a  

deduction from invested funds; and
• front-end fees are charged to the client at inception. This approach is used particularly for 

single premium contracts. The consideration received is deferred as a liability and recognised 
over the life of the contract on a straight-line basis.

 Rental Income
Rental income from investment properties is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight line basis over the term of each lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.12 Revenue Recognition (continued)
 Interest Income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
When a receivable is impaired, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable 
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of 
the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 

 Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.13 Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to the Corporation’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 
Corporation’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by 
the Corporation’s shareholders.

2.14 Leases
The Corporation recognises both a right-of-use asset and a lease liability as at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which represents  
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made on or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, plus an estimate of the costs 
required to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the site on which it is 
located (if applicable), less any lease incentives received.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that have not  
yet been paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the  
lease or, if that rate cannot readily be determined, the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is remeasured when there are changes in the amounts of future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Corporation’s estimate of the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Corporation changes 
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or it is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Corporation presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in a separate line in the statement 
of financial position.

 Short-term Leases and Leases of Low-value Assets
As permitted under the standard, the Corporation does not recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for short-term leases of assets that have lease terms of 12 months or less,  
and leases of low value assets. The Corporation recognises the lease payments associated  
with these leases as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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 Amortisation
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same 
basis as those used for the property and equipment items.

 Impairment
The right-of-use assets are periodically reduced by the amounts of impairment losses and adjusted 
to reflect certain remeasurements of the respective lease liabilities.

 Accounting Estimates and Judgements
Useful Lives, Residual Values of Intangible Assets and Discount Rates
The calculation of the assets’ residual values, the estimation of the useful lives, and the discount 
rates used are based on the premises of the lease contracts (or for similar assets) and are set 
based on management’s judgement, as well as the practices of its peers in the industry.

Impairment of Right-of-use Assets
Identifying impairment indicators, estimating future cash flow and determining the fair value  
of assets requires Management to use significant judgement in terms of the identification and 
evaluation of the different impairment indicators, the expected cash flow, the applicable discount 
rates, useful lives and residual amounts.

2.15 Employee Benefits
 (a) Short-term Employee Benefits

The cost of all employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders 
the related service.

The provision for employee entitlements to salaries represent the amount that the Corporation has 
a present obligation to pay, as a result of employees’ services provided up to the statement of 
financial position date. The provision has been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
current salary rates.

 (b) Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the 
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The Corporation recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed either to terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal, or to provide termination benefits as a result of 
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

 (c) Performance Bonus Plan
The Corporation recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that 
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Corporation’s shareholders after certain 
adjustments. The Corporation recognises a provision where it is contractually obliged to or 
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.15 Employee Benefits (continued)
 (c) Performance Bonus Plan (continued)

A liability for employee benefits in the form of profit sharing and bonus plans is recognised in 
provisions for other liabilities and charges when there is no realistic alternative but to settle the 
liability and at least one of the following conditions is met:
• there is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of issuing the  

financial statements; or
• past practice has created a valid expectation by employees that they will receive a bonus/profit  

sharing and the amount can be determined before the time of issuing the financial statements.

Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

 (d) Pension Fund Obligation
The Corporation has a pension scheme in accordance with the local conditions and practices. 
The scheme is a defined contribution plan. 

The Corporation pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance 
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Corporation has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee 
benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the 
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

2.16 Current and Deferred Income Tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date in Eswatini.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at  
the time of the transaction affects either accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

2.17 Insurance Debtors
Trade receivables which generally have 60-day terms are recognised and carried at brokers note 
value less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made 
when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.
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2.18 Offsetting Financial Instruments
Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.19 Solvency
The Insurance Act, 2005 does not specify any solvency requirements. However, based on 
industry norms, the directors believe that the Corporation has enough resources to comply with 
the requirements if set in line with industry practice in the region. The Corporation has a policy 
for its non-life insurance business to maintain a solvency of 50% in terms of the international 
calculation method.

2.20 Contingencies and Commitments 
Transactions are classified as contingencies where the Corporation’s obligation depends on 
uncertain future events or if a present obligation arises from past events but the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Items are classified as commitments 
where the Corporation commits itself to future transactions with external parties. 

2.21 Non-current Assets Held-for-sale
Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. This classification is only met if the sale 
is highly probable and the assets are available for immediate sale. In light of the Corporation’s 
primary business being the provision of insurance and investment products, non-current assets 
held as investments are not classified as held-for-sale as the ongoing investment management 
implies regular purchases and sales in the ordinary course of business. 

Immediately before classification as held-for-sale, the measurement (carrying amount) of assets 
and liabilities in relation to a disposal group is recognised based upon the appropriate IFRS 
standards. On initial recognition as held-for-sale, the non-current assets and liabilities are 
recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Any impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The non-current assets held-for-sale will be reclassified immediately when 
there is a change in intention to sell. Subsequent measurement of the asset or disposal group at 
that date will be the lower of:
(i)  its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held-for-sale, adjusted for any 

depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had the asset not 
been classified as held-for-sale and;

(ii) its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell.

2.22 Outstanding Claims, Agents and Other Creditors
Liabilities for outstanding claims, agents and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is a 
fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for claims made and services rendered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.23 Policyholder Insurance and Investment Contracts
  Standard of Actuarial Practice (“SAPs”) Issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa 

(“ASSA”)
In terms of IFRS 4, defined insurance liabilities are measured under existing local practice.  
The Corporation has, prior to the adoption of IFRS 4, adopted the SAPs to determine the 
liability in respect of insurance contracts issued in Eswatini. The following SAPs are of relevance 
to the determination of policyholder liabilities:
• SAP 102: Life Offices – HIV/AIDS
• SAP 103: Report by the Statutory Actuary in the Annual Financial Statements of South African 

Life Insurers
• SAP 104: Life Offices – Valuation of Life Insurers
• SAP 105: Recommended AIDS extra mortality bases
• SAP 106: Actuaries and Life Insurance in South Africa
• SAP 110: Reserving for minimum investment return guarantees

The SAPs are available on the ASSA website (www.actuarialsociety.org.za).

Where applicable, the SAPs are referred to in the accounting policies and notes to the annual 
financial statements.

2.24 Insurance and Investment Contract – Classification
The Corporation issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or, in some cases, 
both. An insurance contract is a contract under which the Corporation (insurer) accepts significant 
insurance risk from the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified 
uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder. Such contracts may 
also transfer financial risk. The Corporation defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of 
having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are significantly more than the 
benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no significant insurance 
risk. Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk from the policyholder to the Corporation 
is not significant would be classified as investment contracts.

Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, 
financial instruments price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, 
credit rating or credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that 
the variable is not specific to a party to the contract.

Contracts with discretionary participation features are those where the policyholder has a right 
to receive additional benefits that are likely to be a significant part of the total contractual 
benefits and whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer and that 
are contractually based on the performance of a specified pool of contracts or assets or the 
profit or loss of the issuer.

The accounting policies applied for the measurement of insurance contracts and investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features are governed by IFRS 4 Insurance contracts 
while investment contracts without discretionary participation features fall within the scope of 
IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement.
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The Corporation has classified its Smoothed Bonus Deposit Administration business as investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as insurance 
contracts. There are therefore no policies which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participation features.

 Discretionary Participation Features (“DPF”)
A number of insurance and investment contracts contain a DPF. This feature entitles the 
policyholder to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses:
(i) that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;
(ii) whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the Corporation; and
(iii) that are contractually based on:

• the performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract; and/or
•  realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by 

the Corporation.

The terms and conditions or practice of these contracts set out the bases for the determination 
of the amounts on which the additional discretionary benefits are based (the DPF eligible surplus) 
and within which the Corporation may exercise its discretion as to the quantum and timing of their 
payment to policyholders. A proportion, as set out in the policy conditions, of the eligible surplus 
must be attributed to the policyholders as a Corporation (which can include future policyholders), 
while the amount and timing of the distribution to individual policyholders is at the discretion of 
the Corporation, subject to the advice of the statutory actuary. The terms revisionary bonus and 
smoothed bonus refer to the specific forms of DPF contracts underwritten by the Corporation.

All components in respect of DPFs are included in the policyholder liabilities.

2.25 Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts with DPF
 Recognition and Measurement

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are classified into three main categories, 
depending on the duration of risk and whether or not the terms and conditions are fixed.

 (i) Non-life Insurance Contracts
Non-life insurance provides benefits under non-life policies, which include engineering, guarantee, 
liability, miscellaneous, motor, property, and transportation, or a contract comprising a 
combination of any of these policies. Non-life insurance contracts are further classified into the 
following categories:
• Personal insurance, consisting of insurance to individuals and their personal property.
• Commercial insurance, providing cover on the assets and liabilities of the business enterprises.

Terms and conditions of insurance contracts are included under section 4.2.1 of the accounting 
policies.

For all non-life insurance contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) 
proportionally over the period of coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts 
that relates to unexpired risks at the statement of financial position date is reported as the 
unearned premium liability. Premiums are shown before deduction of commission.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.25 Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts with DPF (continued)
 (i) Non-life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred based on the estimated 
liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract 
holders. They include direct and indirect claims settlement costs and arise from events that have 
occurred up to the statement of financial position date even if they have not yet been reported to 
the Corporation. The Corporation does not discount its liabilities for unpaid claims. Liabilities for 
unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for individual cases reported to the 
Corporation and statistical analyses for the claims incurred but not reported.

Provision is made in the policyholder’s liabilities under insurance contracts for the estimated cost 
at the end of the year of claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) at that date. IBNER 
provisions are calculated using the stochastic chain ladder method which approximates to 7.5% 
(2016: 7.5%) of net written premium which have been used. These liabilities are not discounted 
due to the non-life nature of outstanding claims. Outstanding claims and benefit payments are 
stated gross of reinsurance.

 (ii) Life Policy Liabilities: Insurance Contracts
The Corporation’s in force insurance contracts can be separated into the following categories. 

Risk-based Policies
• Endowment assurance
• Funeral cover
• Term assurance
• Credit life assurance
• Capital disability assurance
• Lilunga asset builder
• Insika comprehensive life policy
• Disability income assurance

Unit Linked Policies
• Lilunga graduate plan
• Lilunga pension provider
• Lilunga pure endowment
• Lilunga lump sum investment
• Lilunga endowment 5-year lien
• Insika savings rider

In general, the Financial Soundness Valuation (“FSV”) method used in the past and described 
in SAP 104 of the Actuarial Society of South Africa meets the requirements of IFRS 4 and 
has therefore continued to be used to value the bulk of the Corporation’s contracts. The FSV 
methodology requires that insurance policies be valued as:
• the discounted value of expected future cash flows
• calculated using best estimate assumptions 
• with an addition for compulsory margins prescribed by SAP 104 
• and additional discretionary margins, if required, to reflect specific areas of risk or to ensure 

appropriate recognition of profit.
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The impact of future voluntary premium increases is ignored because they would result in a 
reduction to the liability.

For some of the smaller product classes, approximate methodologies have been applied. 
The methodology for valuing such contracts is as follows:
• In the case of single premium level term assurance a reserve of 95% of the unearned portion  

of the single premium was set up.
• In the case of disability benefits with premiums payable annually or more frequently a reserve of 

80% of one year’s office annual premium was set up.
• In the case of double accident benefits with premiums payable annually or more frequently a 

reserve of 80% of one year’s office annual premium was set up.
• In the case of corporation life assurance a reserve was set up of 95% of the unexpired 

proportion of the premium net of reinsurances.
• In the case of corporation funeral assurances with premiums payable annually or more 

frequently a reserve was set up of 85% of the unexpired proportion of the premium.
• A reserve for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) has been established in respect of the 

corporation life, corporation funeral and the level term assurance business. This reserve is 
three months’ worth of premium income.

The Bonus Stabilisation Reserve (BSR) represents the excess of historical investment returns over 
bonuses declared allowing for the supportability of the bonus rates by the investment returns in 
future. This is a surplus that is available for distribution as bonus to the policyholders in the future 
and can be used to help maintain future bonus levels should investment returns in future years 
deteriorate to a level below the desired bonus rate.

 (iii) Investment Contracts with DPF
Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no insurance risk. 
Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more specific interest rate, financial 
instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or 
credit index or other variables.

The assets backing these liabilities are segregated from the Corporations’ other assets to ensure 
that the assets are used exclusively to provide benefits for the relevant policyholders. 

Bonuses are declared on this business taking a number of factors into account, including 
the previous bonus rates declared, policyholders’ reasonable expectations, expenses, actual 
investment returns on the underlying assets, expectations of future investment returns and the 
extent to which the value of assets exceeds the value of benefits allowing for both the guaranteed 
benefits and projected future bonuses at the most recent declared rates, amongst other factors. 
Once declared, a portion of the bonus forms part of the guaranteed benefit.

The Corporation has classified its smoothed bonus deposit administration business as investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as insurance 
contracts. There are therefore no policies, which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participating features.

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features have been valued in terms of the 
FSV basis, using a discounted cash flow methodology, described in SAP 104 and the liability is 
reflected as policyholders’ liability under insurance contracts.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.25 Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts with DPF (continued)
 (iii) Investment Contracts with DPF (continued)

The following are some of the products offered by the Corporation, which are investment 
contracts with DPF:
• Retirement funds.
• Insika comprehensive plan

The liability in respect of the smoothed bonus deposit administration business is valued as the 
historical contributions received less charges rolled up at actual historical declared bonus rates 
(vesting and non-vesting). A bonus smoothing reserve is maintained in respect of any historical 
investment returns less charges earned by the assets backing the liabilities which have not yet 
been distributed to policyholders in the form of bonus declarations.

Revenue consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy administration and surrender charges. 
Expenses and excess benefit claims incurred are reflected as expenditure in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(a)  Acquisition Costs
Acquisition costs for insurance contracts represent commission and other costs that relate to 
the securing of new contracts and the renewing of existing contracts. These costs are expensed 
as incurred.

(b) Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DAC”)
Commissions and other acquisition costs that vary with and are related to securing new contracts 
and renewing existing contracts are capitalised as an intangible asset (DAC). All other costs are 
recognised as expenses when incurred. The DAC is subsequently amortised over the life of the 
contracts as follows:
• For non-life insurance contracts, DAC is amortised over the terms of the policies as premium 

is earned;
• For life insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms, the FSV method for valuing 

insurance contracts makes implicit allowance for the deferral of acquisition costs and hence no 
explicit deferred acquisition cost asset is recognised in the statement of financial position for 
insurance contracts.

(c)  Liability Adequacy Test
At each statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the 
adequacy of the contract liabilities net of related DAC. In performing these tests, current best 
estimates of future contractual cash flows and claims handling and administration expenses, 
as well as investment income from the assets backing such liabilities, are used. Any deficiency is 
immediately charged to profit or loss initially by writing off DAC and by subsequently establishing 
a provision for losses arising from liability adequacy tests (the unexpired risk provision).

Any DAC written off as a result of this test cannot subsequently be reinstated.
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The FSV methodology, using compulsory and discretionary margins on the best estimate 
future assumptions, is applied to individual business. The methodology takes into account all 
future cash flows, namely: claims, surrenders, premiums, expenses, future bonuses as well as 
investment income. The value of the liabilities is compared to the value of the assets. The FSV 
methodology therefore constitutes a Liability Adequacy Test in terms of paragraph 15 of IFRS 4.

(d) Incurred But Not Reported Claims
Provision is made in the policyholder’s liabilities under insurance contracts for the estimated cost 
at the end of the year of claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at that date. The liability is 
calculated using the three methods; Chain Ladder, Bornhuetter Ferguson and Loss Ratio method. 
Thereafter the most appropriate method is selected given the observed claims development 
before the application of the stochastic valuation method. These liabilities are not discounted due 
to the non-life nature of outstanding claims. Outstanding claims and benefit payments are stated 
gross of reinsurance.

(e) Premium Income
Premiums received under insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary 
participating feature are stated gross of commission and are recognised when due for payment. 
Premium income on insurance contracts is shown gross of reinsurance. Premiums are shown 
before deduction of commission. Premium income received in advance is included in insurance 
and other payables.

(f) Claims
Claims paid under insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary participating 
feature include maturities, annuities, surrenders, death and disability payments. Maturity and annuity 
claims are recorded as they fall due for payment. Death and disability claims and surrenders are 
accounted for when notified. 

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim.

Anticipated reinsurance recoveries are disclosed separately as assets. Reinsurance and other 
recoveries are assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of claims outstanding. Claims 
provisions for claims outstanding are discounted where there is a particularly long period from 
incident to claims settlement and where there exists a suitable claims pattern from which to 
calculate the discount.

Whilst the directors consider that the gross provisions for claims and the related reinsurance 
recoveries are fairly stated on the basis of the information currently available to them, the ultimate 
liability will vary as a result of subsequent information and events and may result in significant 
adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims provisions 
established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements for the period in which the 
adjustments are made, and disclosed separately if material. The methods used, and the estimates 
made, are reviewed regularly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.25 Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts with DPF (continued)
 (iii) Investment Contracts with DPF (continued)

(g) Reinsurance Contracts Held
Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the Corporation with reinsurers under which 
the Corporation is compensated for the entire or a portion of losses arising on one or more of the 
insurance contracts issued by the Corporation.

(1) Reinsurance Claims
The expected benefits to which the Corporation is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held 
are recognised as reinsurance assets. These assets consist of non-life balances due from 
reinsurers (classified within loans and receivables) as well as longer-term receivables (classified 
as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the present value of expected claims and benefits 
arising net of expected premiums payable under the related reinsurance contracts. Amounts 
recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with 
the reinsured contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for ceded insurance 
liabilities. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the 
outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsured policy. The cost of 
reinsurance related to life contracts is accounted for over the life of the underlying insurance 
policies using assumptions consistent with those used to account for the underlying policies.

Premiums ceded and benefits reimbursed are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income and statement of financial position on a gross basis.

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each statement of financial position date. If 
there is reliable objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, 
that amounts due may not be recoverable, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount of the 
reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as 
insurance. Amounts recoverable under such contracts are recognised in the same year as the 
related claim. Contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk (i.e. financial reinsurance) 
are recorded using the deposit method of accounting.

(2) Reinsurance Premiums
Amounts recoverable under reinsurance contracts are assessed for impairment at each statement 
of financial position date. Such assets are deemed impaired if there is objective evidence, as a 
result of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that the Corporation may not recover  
all amounts due and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the 
Corporation will receive from the reinsurer.

The Corporation cedes reinsurance premiums in the normal course of business for the purpose of 
limiting its net loss potential through the diversification of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do 
not relieve the Corporation from its direct obligations to its policyholders.

Premiums ceded and benefits reimbursed are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income and statement of financial position on a gross basis.
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(h) Receivables and Payables Related to Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts
Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from 
agents, brokers and policyholders.

(i)  Salvage and Subrogation Reimbursements
Some insurance contracts permit the Corporation to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in 
settling a claim. The Corporation may also have the right to pursue third parties for payment of 
some or all costs.

Estimates of salvage recoveries are included as an allowance in the measurement of the insurance 
liability for claims, and salvage property is recognised in other assets when the liability is settled. 
The allowance is the amount that can reasonably be recovered from the disposal of the property.

Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as an allowance in the measurement of the 
insurance liability for claims and are recognised in other assets when the liability is settled.  
The allowance is the assessment of the amount that can be recovered from the action against 
the liable third party.

2.26 Key Assumptions in Applying Accounting Policies
Key assumptions derive estimates which require management’s most complex or subjective 
judgements. The Corporation’s management decide on assumptions that can materially affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. These estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The most significant assets and liabilities which typically require such assumptions are the following:
•  policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts are derived from actual claims submitted 

which are not settled at statement of financial position date, and estimates of the net present 
value of future claims and benefits under existing contracts, offset by probable future premium 
to be received (net of expected service costs). The key assumptions have been detailed in 
paragraph 4.2.2 (c) of the accounting policies and note 32 to the financial statements.

The summary of Actuarial liabilities as at 31 December 2019 per the published reporting basis is 
as follows: 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018
Gross of

reinsurance
E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Gross of
reinsurance

E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Published reporting 
basis
Insurance products 1 240 814 320 1 238 535 805 1 087 207 084 1 084 546 075
Investment products 400 994 549 400 994 549 351 554 272 351 554 272

1 641 808 869 1 639 530 354 1 438 761 356 1 436 100 347
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
2.27 Key Assumptions in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

The Corporation holds a number of financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss. These are valued at quoted market prices as far as possible. However, if such prices are 
unavailable, fair value is based either on internal valuations or management’s best estimates of 
realisable amounts. The Corporation’s valuation methodologies for unquoted financial instruments 
have been set out in paragraph 2.7 of the accounting policies. These estimates are based on 
current market as well as expectations about future economic and financial developments. 
If the average future investment returns were to differ by 1% from management’s estimates, 
the insurance and investment liabilities would increase or decrease to the following amounts:

 Sensitivity Run: Valuation Interest Rate Increased by 1%

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018

Gross of
reinsurance

E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Gross of
reinsurance

E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Insurance products 1 186 070 286 1 183 791 771 1 046 418 119 1 043 757 110
Investment products 400 994 549 400 994 549 351 554 272 351 554 272

1 587 064 835 1 584 786 320 1 397 972 391 1 395 311 382

 Sensitivity Run: Valuation Interest Rate Decreased by 1%

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018
Gross of

reinsurance
E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Gross of
reinsurance

E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Insurance products 1 336 714 193 1 334 435 678 1 164 213 903  1 161 552 895
Investment products 400 994 549 400 994 549 351 554 272 351 554 272

1 737 708 742 1 735 430 227 1 515 768 175 1 513 107 167

Impairment tests are conducted on all assets included in the statement of financial position. 
In determining the value in use, various estimates are used by management including deriving future 
cash flows and applicable discount rates. These estimates are most applicable to the impairment 
tests on reinsurance assets, intangible assets, deferred acquisition costs and receivables.
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3. Risk Management Framework and Objectives
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and communicating appropriate 
risk and control policies and ensuring that adequate risk management processes are in place. 
The Corporation has committees which deal with the various aspects on policies for accepting 
risks, including selection and approval of risks to be insured, use of limits and avoiding undue 
concentrations of risk, underwriting strategies to ensure the appropriate risk classification and 
premium levels etc. as detailed below:

3.1 Audit Committee
An Audit Committee, appointed by the Corporation’s Board, is in place to assist the board in 
discharging its risk management obligations.

The principal objectives of the Corporation’s risk management function under the audit committee 
are to:
• review the Corporation’s risk philosophy, strategy, policies and processes recommended by 

executive management;
• review compliance with risk policies and with the overall risk profile of the Corporation;
• review and assess the integrity of the process and procedures for identifying, assessing, 

recording and monitoring of risk;
• review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Corporation’s risk management function and its 

implementation by management;
• ensure that material corporate risks have been identified, assessed and receive attention; and
• provide the board with an assessment of the state of risk management within the Corporation.

A significant part of Corporation’s business involves the acceptance and management of risk. 
Primary responsibility for risk management at an operational level rests with the executive 
management. The Corporation’s risk management processes, of which the systems of internal, 
financial and operating controls are an integral part, are designed to control and monitor risk 
throughout the Corporation. For effectiveness, these processes rely on regular communication, 
sound judgement and a thorough knowledge of the products and markets by the people closest 
to them. Management and various specialist committees are tasked with integrating the 
management of risk into the day-to-day activities of the Corporation.

In particular:
The Corporation audit committee’s principal objectives (pertaining to risk) are as follows:
•  act as an effective communication channel between the Board on one hand and the external 

auditors and the internal auditors on the other;
• satisfy the Board that adequate internal, financial and operating controls are being identified, 

addressed and monitored by management and that material corporate risks have been 
identified and are being contained and monitored through the Corporation risk committee; and

•   enhance the quality, effectiveness, relevance and communication value of the published 
financial statements and other public documentation of a financial nature issued by the 
Corporation, with focus being placed on the actuarial assumptions, parameters, valuations and 
reporting guidelines and practices adopted by the statutory actuary as appropriate to the 
Corporation’s life insurance activities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

3. Risk Management Framework and Objectives (continued)
3.2 Investment Committee

The Investment Committee is responsible for the management of the Corporation’s capital and 
the investment policies for assets backing its liabilities.

This committee focuses in overseeing the high-level mix parameters for various products 
and portfolios and is tasked with agreeing benchmarks and mandates for performance of 
each investment portfolio in conjunction with the asset managers. It monitors the execution 
of such mandates.

4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk
The Corporation issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section 
summarises these risks and the way the Corporation manages them.

4.1  Financial Risk
The Corporation’s financial instruments mainly consist of instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss. The methods for recognition and measurement of financial instruments are 
disclosed in the Corporation’s accounting policies.

The carrying amounts and the respective fair values of financial instruments are summarised below:

2019
Carrying
amount/

fair value
E

2018
Carrying
amount/
fair value

E

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables 
(note 15) 192 810 795 172 429 571
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 111 433 790 102 564 614
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 289 699 319 294 412 791

2 536 935 414 2 293 477 159

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Insurance liabilities – insurance contracts (note 30.1) 1 573 484 632 1 395 186 534
Insurance liabilities – investment contracts (note 31) 400 994 549 351 554 272
Reinsurance liabilities (note 24) 21 311 505 22 407 198
Insurance and other payables (note 25) 43 327 615 38 737 749

2 039 118 301 1 807 885 753

The carrying amount of loans and receivables (including insurance receivables), cash and cash 
equivalents and insurance and other payables approximate their fair values due to their non-life nature.

The fair values have been calculated and measured consistently with methods described in the 
accounting policies for assets held at fair value through profit or loss.
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 Financial Risk Management
Risks associated with policyholder investment contract liabilities (financial instruments as defined) 
are discussed in note 4.2.2 and have been excluded from the analysis below.

The Corporation has appointed qualified asset managers to manage its financial instruments that 
support policyholder liabilities. The principal asset managers are African Alliance Management 
Company Limited, STANLIB Asset Management Limited and ABSA Asset Management Limited.

Exposure to outside financial institutions concerning financial instruments is monitored in 
accordance with parameters which have been approved by the Corporation’s audit committee 
and investment committee as mandated by the board. The Corporation places emphasis on 
investing in quality growth shares that reflect a reasonable value proposition. Identification and 
selection of quality growth shares is made through research and analysis.

The financial risks to which the Corporation is exposed are described below:

(a) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the Corporation to incur a financial loss.

Credit risks arise mainly from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, reinsurance 
assets, loans and receivables (including insurance receivables) and cash and cash equivalents.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and insurance assets represent the maximum exposure 
to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2019
E

2018
E

Carrying amount
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(note 14) 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 192 810 795 172 429 571
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables 
(note 15) 111 433 790 102 564 614
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 289 699 319 294 412 791

Total assets bearing credit risk 2 536 935 414 2 293 477 159

Loans and receivables (including insurance receivables) and cash and cash equivalents are placed 
with reputable counterparties whose credit ratings are assessed when placing the business and 
when there is a change in the status of the counterparty.

The counterparties for assets backing financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 
and most of reinsurance assets are rated [AA-] by an international rating agency. The following 
table provides information regarding the aggregated credit risk exposure for the Corporation for 
debt instruments categorised by credit ratings.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.1  Financial Risk (continued)
 Financial Risk Management (continued)

(a) Credit Risk (continued)

Rated
E

Not rated
E

Total
E

31 December 2019
Assets bearing credit risk
Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss and held-to-maturity investments 
(note 14) 1 777 821 730 165 169 780 1 942 991 510
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 111 433 790 – 111 433 790
Loans and receivables including insurance 
receivables (note 15) – 192 810 795 192 810 795
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) – 289 699 319 289 699 319

1 889 255 520 647 679 894 2 536 935 414

31 December 2018
Assets bearing credit risk
Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss and held-to-maturity investments 
(note 14) 1 588 242 232 135 827 951 1 724 070 183
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 102 564 614 – 102 564 614
Loans and receivables including insurance 
receivables (note 15) – 172 429 571 172 429 571
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) – 294 412 791 294 412 791

1 690 806 846 602 670 313 2 293 477 159

Debt collection procedures are vigorously carried out on defaulters. Full provision is made for 
non-recoverability as soon as management is uncertain as to the recovery.

If policyholders cease to pay their premiums, as contractually required, any insurance risk would 
lapse, and any investment product would be subject to charges in order to recover outstanding costs.

(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments and insurance contracts.

The Insurance industry is regulated by the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds as 
required by the Insurance Act of 2005. The Insurance Act 2005 specifies the liquidity and capital 
requirements of insurance and retirements fund companies.

Liquidity risks arising out of contractual obligations to policyholders are discussed further in note 36 
of the notes to financial statements.
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The Corporation manages liquidity risk by reviewing the contractual maturities of both its financial 
assets and financial liabilities. Refer to note 36 – liquidity analysis for the detailed maturity analysis 
and the reconciliation to the financial statements. 

(c) Market Risk
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk. From time to time 
derivative financial instruments are entered into to reduce this exposure to market risk.

(i) Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk that the financial instruments that are denominated in foreign currency will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Corporation is exposed to currency risk as its investments include financial instruments that 
are held in international portfolios.

(ii)  Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument or an 
insurance contract will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Corporation continuously assesses the market expectations within the South African and 
Eswatini interest rate environments.

The following financial instruments and insurance contracts will be directly impacted by changes 
in market interest rates: financial assets held-to-maturity and cash and cash equivalents.

A change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 
(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2019:

Profit or loss Equity

2019
E

2018
E

2019
E

2018
E

Increase of 50 basis points 1 548 497 1 472 064 1 548 497 1 472 064
Decrease of 50 basis points (1 548 497) (1 472 064) (1 548 497) (1 472 064)

(iii) Other Price Risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk 
or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The Corporation maintains a balanced portfolio of investments between equity, capital and money 
market to mitigate the impact of other price risk.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.1  Financial Risk (continued)
 Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c)  Market Risk (continued)
(iv) Legal Risk
Legal risk is the risk that the Corporation will be exposed to contractual obligations which have 
not been provided for.

The Corporation has a policy of ensuring all contractual obligations are documented and agreed 
to, through signing by the relevant parties to the contract. As at 31 December 2019, the directors 
are not aware of any significant obligation not provided for.

(v) Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or from external events.

The initiation of all transactions and their administration is conducted on the foundation of 
segregation of duties that has been designed to ensure materially the completeness, accuracy 
and validity of all transactions. These controls are augmented by management and executive 
review of control accounts and systems, electronic and manual checks and controls, back-up 
facilities and contingency planning. The internal control systems and procedures are also 
subjected to regular internal audit reviews.

(vi) Taxation Risk
Taxation risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur a financial loss due to an incorrect 
interpretation and application of taxation legislation or due to the impact of new taxation 
legislation on existing structures.

During the development stage of any new product and prior to any corporate transactions the 
taxation resources of the Corporation, and if required external resources, identify and advise on 
any material potential taxation impact thereof. 

Taxation risk is further mitigated through policy terms and conditions, which enable the risk 
to be passed back to policyholders. This is the case on all classes of business other than 
non-participating annuity business.

(vii) Regulatory Risk
Regulatory risk is the risk arising from a change in regulations pertaining to the business of 
the Corporation. 

In order to manage this risk, the Corporation is an active participant in various bodies which 
may have an impact on its business, such as the Financial Services Regularly Authority.
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4.2  Insurance Risk
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and 
the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, 
this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

The principal risk that the Corporation faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims 
and benefit payments may exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could 
occur because of the frequency or severity of claims and where the benefits payables are greater 
than estimated. 

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the 
relative variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is 
less likely to be affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Corporation has 
developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted 
and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the 
variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and 
amount of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered.

4.2.1 Non-life Insurance Contracts
The primary insurance activity carried out by the Corporation assumes the risk of loss from 
persons or organisations that are directly subject to the risk. Such risks may relate to property, 
motor, liability, accident, health, credit, crop or other perils that may arise from an insurable event. 
As such the Corporation is exposed to the uncertainty surrounding the timing and severity of 
claims under the contract. The Corporation also has exposure to market risk through its insurance 
and investment activities. 

The Corporation manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits, approval procedures for 
transactions that involve new products or that exceed set limits, pricing guidelines, centralised 
management of reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues. 

The Corporation uses several methods to assess and monitor insurance risk exposures both for 
individual types of risks insured and overall risks. These methods include internal risk measurement 
models, sensitivity analyses and scenario analyses.

(a) Underwriting Strategy
The Corporation underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced portfolio and is based 
on a large portfolio of similar risks over a large area. As such, it is believed that this reduces the 
variability of the outcome. The underwriting strategy is set out on an annual business plan that 
sets out the classes of business to be written and the industry sectors to which the Corporation 
is prepared to expose itself. 

This strategy is cascaded down to individual underwriters through detailed underwriting authorities 
that set out the limits that any one underwriter can write by line size, class of business and industry 
in order to enforce appropriate risk selection within the portfolio. The underwriters have the right 
to refuse renewal or to change the terms and conditions of the contract with 30 days’ notice. 
Adherence to the underwriting authorities is measured through a series of exception reports that 
are run on a monthly basis covering line size, class and industry.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life insurance contracts (continued)

(a) Underwriting Strategy (continued)
The Corporation bases its pricing policy on the theory of probability. Underwriting limits are set 
for underwriting manager and underwriters to ensure that this policy is consistently applied. 
The Corporation has the right to re-price and change the conditions for accepting risks on 
renewal. It also has the ability to impose deductibles and reject fraudulent claims. Only extensive 
expertise, well-maintained data resources, and selective underwriting based on this information 
can produce risk-adequate prices and conditions. The effects of the risk of change influence both 
the premium calculation and the reserves.

(b) Reinsurance Strategy 
The Corporation reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to control its exposures 
to losses and protect capital resources. The Corporation utilises an independent Reinsurance 
Broker for the negotiations, placement and arrangement of Reinsurance programmes with 
reputable reinsurers. 

The treaties are a combination of proportional and non-proportional in order to minimise the net 
exposure to the Corporation. The Corporation also participates in the facultative reinsurance in 
certain specified circumstances.

(c) Terms and Conditions of Insurance Contracts
The Corporation issues a range of non-life insurance contracts, each of which is described in 
further detail below:

Engineering – Provides cover for risks relating to:
• The possession, use or ownership of machinery or equipment, other than motor vehicles, in the 

carrying on of a business:
• Erection of buildings or other structures or the undertaking of other works.
• The installation of machinery or equipment. 

Guarantee – A contract whereby the insurer assumes an obligation to discharge the debts or 
other obligations of another person in the event of the failure of that person to do so.

Liability – Provides cover for risks relating to the incurring of a liability other than relating to a risk 
covered more specifically under another insurance contract.

Motor – Covers risks relating to the possession, use or ownership of motor vehicles. This cover 
can include risks relating to vehicle accident, theft or damage to third party property or legal 
liability arising out of the possession, use or ownership of the insured vehicle.

Property – Covers risks relating to the use, ownership, loss of or damage to immovable property 
other than a risk covered more specifically under another insurance contract. It also covers for 
the loss of earnings caused by the inability to use the insured properties in their business 
activities (business interruption cover).

Transportation – Covers risks relating to the possession, use or ownership of a vessel, aircraft or 
other craft for the conveyance of persons or goods by air, space, land or water. It also covers 
risks relating to the storage, treatment or handling of goods that are conveyed.
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(d) Nature of risks Covered
The following gives an assessment of the Corporation’s main products and the ways in which it 
manages the associated risks and the concentrations of these risks:

Product Commercial Personal

Crime * *
Contractors all risks *
Domestic (other) *
Domestic (motor) *
Fire and allied peril * *
Guarantees *
Accident * *
Personal accident * *
Motor * *
Engineering *
Marine *
Hull *
Liability *
Workmen’s compensation *
Cargo *

Commercial division underwrites small to large business from companies. Personal division 
provides insurance to the general public in their personal capacities. 

The following perils are covered under the different types of business:
• Fire – fire, storm, explosions, riot, malicious and earthquake.
• Accident – all risks.
• Personal Accident – death, permanent disablement, total disablement and medical expenses.
• Motor – private and commercial (comprehensive, full third party fire and theft, full third party)
• Engineering – machinery breakdown, contractors all risks, erection all risks and electronic
 equipment.
• Marine – hull and cargo.
• House-owners – fire, theft of fixtures, liability, storm and explosion.
• House-holders – burglary.

The return to shareholders under these products arises from the total premiums charged to 
policyholders less the amounts paid to cover claims and the expenses incurred by the Corporation. 
There is also certain scope for the Corporation to earn investment income owing to the time delay 
between the receipt of premiums and the payment of claims. 

The event giving rise to a claim usually occurs suddenly (such as a fire or burglary) and the cause 
is easily determinable. The claim will thus be notified promptly and can be settled without delay.

(e) Management of insurance Risks
The key risks associated with these products are underwriting risk, competitive risk, and claims 
experience risk (including the variable incidence of natural disasters). The Corporation will also be 
exposed to fraud risk by policyholders.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life Insurance Contracts (continued)

(e) Management of insurance Risks (continued)
Underwriting risk is the risk that the Corporation does not charge premiums appropriate for the 
risk that it accepts. The risk on any policy will vary according to many factors such as location, 
safety measures in place, age of property etc. For domestic property insurance it is expected that 
there will be large numbers of properties with similar risk profiles. However, for commercial 
business this will not be the case. 

Many commercial property proposals will comprise of a unique combination of location, type of 
business, and safety measures in place. Calculating a premium commensurate with the risk for 
these policies will be subjective, and hence risky. This risk is managed primarily through sensible 
pricing, product design, risk selection, appropriate investment strategy, rating and reinsurance. 
The Corporation therefore monitors and reacts to changes in the general economic and 
commercial environment in which it operates.

Insurance companies are exposed to the risk that the insured will make false or invalid claims, 
or exaggerate the amount claimed following a loss. This largely explains why economic conditions 
correlate with the profitability of a portfolio. External control systems and fraud detection 
measurements are also in place to improve the Corporation’s ability to proactively detect 
fraudulent claims. The Corporation has independent assessors who determine the value of 
claims in cases of uncertainty.

Through selective underwriting, client-focused claims handling and advanced reserving methods, 
the Corporation endeavour to minimise risks, resulting from the risk of change. Claims are analysed 
separately for long-tail and short-tail claims. The development of large losses and catastrophes is 
analysed separately. Short-tail claims can be estimated with greater reliability, and the Corporation’s 
estimation process reflects all the factors that influence the amount and timing of cash flows from 
these contracts.

(f) Concentrations of insurance Risk
Within the insurance process, concentrations of risk may arise where a particular event or series 
of events could impact heavily upon the Corporation’s liabilities. Such concentrations may arise 
from a single insurance contract or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to 
circumstances where significant liabilities could arise.

Property is subject to a number of risks, including theft, fire, business interruption and weather. 
For property business there is a very significant geographical concentration of risk so that external 
factors such as adverse weather conditions may adversely impact upon a large proportion of a 
particular geographical portion of the Corporation’s property risks. Claims including perils such as 
storms, floods, subsidence, fires, explosions, and rising crime levels 
will occur on a regional basis, meaning that the Corporation has to manage its geographical 
risk dispersion very carefully.

For motor business the main risks relates mainly to losses arising from theft, fire, third party 
losses and accident. Claims including perils such as increase in crime levels, adverse weather 
and bad road networks will occur on a seasonal and regional scale, meaning that the Corporation 
has to ensure that all products are adequately priced and that salvage recovery is pursued in 
order to mitigate losses.
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(g) Non-life insurance Risk
(1) Claims Development
Claims on casualty contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Corporation is liable for 
all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after 
the end of the contract term, subject to pre-determined time scales dependent on the nature of the 
insurance contract. The Corporation takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate 
information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims 
provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from  
the original liability established. 

The claims liability comprises a provision for claims not yet paid and a provision for claims 
incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the statement of financial position date. Based on run 
off experience against IBNR in 2019, management are of the opinion that the provision for IBNR 
is adequate but not excessive.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Corporation’s 
estimation techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates (where the loss ratio 
is defined as the ratio between the ultimate cost of insurance claims and insurance premiums 
earned in a particular financial year in relation to such claims) and an estimate based upon actual 
claims experience using predetermined formulae where greater weight is given to actual claims 
experience as time passes. 

The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is based 
on previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes, anticipated 
market experience and historical claims inflation.

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation 
of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Corporation, where information about the 
claim event is available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the insured until many years after 
the event that gave rise to the claims. For casualty contracts, the IBNR proportion of the total 
liability is high and will typically display greater variations between initial estimates and final 
outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty of estimating these liabilities.

In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, the Corporation considers 
any information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with 
similar characteristics in previous periods. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis 
or projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their development 
and incidence on the rest of the portfolio.

Where possible, the Corporation adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of 
provisions. This provides a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the experience being 
projected. The projections given by the various methodologies also assist in estimating the range of 
possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique is selected taking into account the 
characteristics of the business class and the extent of the development of each two-year period.

The Corporation believes that the estimate of total claims outstanding disclosed in note 30.1 as 
at 31 December 2019 is adequate. However, due to the inherent uncertainties in the reserving 
process, it cannot be assured that such balances will ultimately prove to be adequate. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
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4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life Insurance Contracts (continued)

(g) Non-life Insurance Risk (continued)
(2) Process Used to Decide on Assumptions
The risks associated with these insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of 
variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Corporation uses assumptions 
based on a mixture of internal and market data to measure its claims liabilities. Internal data is 
derived mostly from the Corporation’s quarterly claims reports and screening of the actual 
insurance contracts to derive data for the contracts held. The Corporation has reviewed the 
individual contracts and classes and the actual exposure years of claims. This information is 
used to develop scenarios related to the latency of claims that are used for the projections of 
the ultimate number of claims.

For all other casualty risks, the Corporation uses several statistical methods to incorporate the 
various assumptions made in order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The three methods 
more commonly used are the chain-ladder, the Bornhuetter- Ferguson methods and the loss 
ratio method.

Chain-ladder methods may be applied to premiums, paid claims or incurred claims (for example, 
paid claims plus case estimates). The basic technique involves the analysis of historical claims 
development factors and the selection of estimated development factors based on this historical 
pattern. The selected development factors are then applied to cumulative claims data for each 
two-year period that is not yet fully developed to produce an estimated ultimate claims cost for 
each period.

Chain-ladder techniques are most appropriate for those accident years and classes of business 
that have reached a relatively stable development pattern. Chain-ladder techniques are less 
suitable in cases in which the insurer does not have a developed claims history for a particular 
class of business.

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses a combination of a benchmark or market based estimate 
and an estimate based on claims experience. The former is based on a measure of exposure 
such as premiums; the latter is based on the paid or incurred claims to date. The two estimates 
are combined using a formula that gives more weight to the experience-based estimate as time 
passes. This technique has been used in situations in which developed claims experience was 
not available for the projection (recent accident years or new classes of business).

The loss ratio method assumes a loss ratio for each line of business. The loss ratio is then applied 
to the premiums earned to date. The claims paid and outstanding is deducted off and the balance 
is set aside as IBNR. With this method historic delay patterns are completely ignored and the 
entire estimate is calculated based on the expected loss ratio provided by management.

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends 
on an assessment of the technique that has been most appropriate to observed historical 
developments. In certain instances, this has meant that different techniques or combinations of 
techniques have been selected for individual accident years or groups of accident years within 
the same class of business.



93ESRIC INTEGRATED REPORT 
2019

4.2.2 Life Insurance Contracts
For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase 
the overall frequency of claims are epidemics such as AIDS or widespread changes in lifestyle, 
such as eating, smoking and exercise habits, resulting in earlier or more claims than expected. 
For contracts where survival is the insured risk, the most significant factor is continued 
improvement in social conditions that would increase longevity.

The terms and conditions of life insurance contracts which affect the amount, timing and 
uncertainty of cash flows are explained below:

Endowment Assurance With Profits (“EWP”)
This is life assurance where the sum assured is paid at the end of a specified term or on death 
if this should occur at an earlier date. The minimum term is 10 years for all products. It may be 
a stand-alone product or it may include a five yearly cash benefit policy. At maturity the sum 
assured plus bonuses is payable.

Whole Life Assurance With Profit
The benefits of a whole life policy are payable only on death of the life assured whenever that may 
occur. However, the premium is paid to either age 60 or 80 after which the life assured ceases to 
pay premiums and the cover is guaranteed until death. This is also a profit participating policy.

The Endowment Assurance with profits and the whole life assurance with profit may include the 
following supplementary benefits (optional):
• Disability cash benefit which provide for an equal sum of payment in the event the life assured 

becomes permanently incapacitated to perform his own or similar occupation.
• Additional Accident Benefit. This type of benefit provides for an additional sum of money in 

case the life assured dies of an accident.
• Rest In Peace Benefit. The Rest in Peace Benefit provides for funeral expenses for the entire 

family. 

Term Assurance
Temporary life assurance is issued for a specific term wherein the life cover and premium remain 
level throughout.

Term assurances are taken out solely to insure against the possibility of death occurring within 
a time specified in the contract. If death does not occur during that period, no payment is made 
and the life assured does not receive any returns from his premium. 

Decreasing Term Assurance
Temporary life assurance where the sum assured decreases over the duration of the policy.

Corporation Life Assurance
The benefit is paid as a cash lump sum to the dependants of a deceased person. The benefit is 
expressed as a multiple of the member’s annual salary. 

Capital Disability Assurance
This benefit is an extension of the Corporation Life Assurance and is payable when a member becomes 
totally and permanently disabled to the extent that he is unable to engage in any occupation.
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4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Capital Disability Assurance (continued)
(a) Underwriting
The underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified 
in terms of type of risk and the level of insured benefits. For example, the Corporation balances 
death risk and survival risk across its portfolio. Medical selection is also included in the 
Corporation’s underwriting procedures with premiums varied to reflect the health condition.

(b) Policyholder Behaviour Risk
Insurance risk for contracts are also affected by the contract holders’ right to pay reduced or no 
future premiums, to terminate the contract completely, or to exercise a guaranteed annuity option. 
As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also subject to contract holder behaviour.

On the assumption that contract holders will make decisions rationally, overall insurance risk can 
be assumed to be aggravated by such behaviour. For example, it is likely that contract holders 
whose health has deteriorated significantly will be less inclined to terminate contracts insuring death 
benefits than those contract holders remaining in good health. This results in an increasing trend of 
expected mortality, as the portfolio of insurance contracts reduces due to voluntary terminations.

The main risk posed by this behaviour is the risk that expenses and commissions incurred 
early in the term of the contract, but priced to be recovered by means of ongoing charges 
over a longer period, are not fully recovered due to the decision by the policyholder to cease 
or reduce contributions.

(c)  Assumptions
For life insurance contracts estimates are made in two stages. At inception of the contract, 
the Corporation determines assumptions in relation to future deaths, voluntary terminations, 
investment returns and administration expenses. These assumptions are used for calculating 
the liabilities during the life of the contract. A margin for risk and uncertainty is added to these 
assumptions. These assumptions are ‘locked in’ for the duration of the contract.

Subsequently, new estimates are developed at each reporting date to determine whether liabilities 
are adequate in the light of the latest current estimates. The initial assumptions are not altered if 
the liabilities are considered adequate. If the liabilities are not adequate, the assumptions are 
altered (“unlocked”) to reflect the latest current estimates; no margin is added to the assumptions 
in this event. 

As a result, the effect of changes in the underlying variables on insurance liabilities and related 
assets is not symmetrical.

Improvements in estimates have no impact on the value of the liabilities and related assets, 
while significant enough deteriorations in estimates have an impact. The assumptions used 
for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows:



95ESRIC INTEGRATED REPORT 
2019

Mortality Risk and Morbidity Risk
There are a number of policy types which provide significant benefits on death of the policyholder 
or beneficiary. The impact of HIV and AIDS is of particular concern in Eswatini. The primary 
mortality risk mitigation strategies are:
• Underwriting at the time when policies are written
• The use of waiting periods and stepped sums assured to prevent anti-selection
• Reinsurance

The Corporation is not exposed to material morbidity or medical risks.

Planned Margins
Compulsory and discretionary margins are applied to the best estimate assumptions to 
introduce an element of prudence into the valuation and to ensure appropriate recognition 
of profit. These margins will enable the solvency of the Corporation to withstand fairly 
material deviations in experience from the best estimates. 

Basis element Compulsory margin Discretionary margin

Mortality including 
AIDS

7.5% reduction for Mortality Group A
7.5% addition for all other products

Extra 7.5% reduction for 
Mortality Group A
Extra 7.5% increase for all 
other products

Investment return 0.25% increase for Investment 
Group A
0.25% reduction for all other products 

Extra 0.25% increase for 
Investment Group A
Extra 0.25% reduction for all 
other products

Surrenders 10% reduction for Surrender Group A Extra 15% reduction for 
Surrender Group A

Lapses 25% increase for Lapse Group A
25% reduction for Lapse Group B

–

Renewal expenses 10% increase Extra 15% increase

Expense inflation 10% increase –

The definitions of the Group A and Group B shown above is as follows:

Mortality Group A: Lilunga Single Premium, Children’s Education Endowment, Endowment 
Assurances, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Retirement Annuity with Life Cover, Child’s 
Deferred Endowment, Retirement Annuity, Endowment with Periodic Cash Payments, Whole life 
with Periodic Cash Payments, Rest in Peace and Annuities.

Investment Group A: Lilunga Pure Endowment, Lilunga Single Premium, Lilunga Asset Builder, 
Lilunga Graduate Plan Automatic Premium Waiver, Lilunga Pension Provider, Children’s Education 
Endowment, Endowment Assurances, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Retirement Annuity 
with Life Cover, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 60, Child’s Deferred Endowment, Retirement 
annuity, Single Premium Retirement Annuity, Endowment with Periodic Cash Payments, Whole 
Life with Periodic Cash Payments, Rest in Peace, Level Term Cover, Supplementary Level Cover 
Term Assurance, Mortgage Protection Policy, Lilunga Lien Product, Lilunga Graduate Plan 
Underwriting Premium Waiver, Lilunga Graduate Plan No Premium Waiver.
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4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Capital Disability Assurance (continued)
(c) Assumptions (continued)
Planned Margins (continued)
Surrender Group A: All Lilunga and Insika Savings Component.

Lapse Group A: Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Rider on Conventional Product, Rider on 
a Unit Linked Product, Decreasing Cover Term Assurance, Supplementary Decreasing Cover Term 
Assurance, Insika Comprehensive Life Policy, Rider on Insika Comprehensive.

Lapse Group B: All products excluding Lapse Group A and Surrender Group A.

The value of discretionary margins included in the FSV liability as at 31 December 2019 is  
E66.7 million (2018: E48.6 million).

Economic Assumptions
The expected future return on bonds is derived from the 13.87 year point on the South African 
bond yield curve as this corresponds to the discounted mean term of the outstanding liabilities. 
The 13.87 year point was chosen relative to the average term on the liabilities.

The expected future return on the other asset classes are then derived using flat deduction/
additions to this bond yield. The future investment return assumption is then calculated as the 
weighted average of these returns using the split of the assets backing the liabilities as weights. 
The expense inflation assumption is also derived with reference to the bond yield assumption. 

The economic assumptions used are shown below:

GAP
%

2019
%

2018
%

Bonds  10.4 10.2
Equities 2.0 12.4 12.2
Property 1.0 11.4 11.2
Cash (2.0) 8.4 8.2
Average investment return  11.3 11.1
Expense inflation  (2.0) 8.4 8.2

Demographic and Expense Assumptions
Mortality and lapse rates were left unchanged from the previous year.

Renewal and supplementary expenses per policy decreased to E500.00 and E50.00 in 2019 from 
E502.00 and E50.20 in 2018 respectively. This slight decrease in the assumption is because the 
growth in the policy count over which the expenses are split, exceeded the growth in the 
management expense over the financial year.
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Below is table that shows the expense per policy calculation:

31 December 
2019

E’000

31 December 
2018

E’000

Expenses for ongoing individual life 19 834 17 942

Total in-force policies 41 798 36 091

We did not change the reserving ratios for the Group risk policies since the observed profitability 
remains good. See section 3.3.1. above for details of the assumed reserving ratios.

The Individual business demographic and expense assumptions for 2019 (2018) are as follows:

Mortality assurances Male: 80% of SA56-62 + 0.001 + 100% of Assa2003m). 
Female: 80% of (SA56-62f + 0.001+100% of Assa2003f) where 
SA56-62f rated down by 3 years.

Pensions in payment 125% of A(90).

Withdrawal 7.5% per annum for Lilunga policies;
7.5% per annum for Mortgage Protection policies;
7.5% per annum for Term Assurances policies;
2.5% per annum for Rest In Peace policies;
7.5% per annum for Insika policies;
0% per annum for all other policy types.

Expenses E502 (E476) per main policy per annum.
E50.2 (E47.6) per supplementary policy per annum.

* Note SA56-62f is SA56-62 where the rates have been shifted three years.

Changes in Assumptions
The impact of the change in assumptions on the liabilities is as follows (E’000):

31 December 
2019

E’000

31 December 
2018

E’000

Change in expense assumption (13 895) (7)
Change in investment return assumption (923) (2 100)
Change in the expense inflation assumption 2 310 5 962

Total impact of change in assumptions (12 508) 3 855

The expense assumption change has resulted in a lower liability due to the decreased expenses 
being lower than the previous year’s assumed inflated assumption rate. The increase in the 
investment return assumption has also led to a decrease in the discounted liabilities. The higher 
expense inflation assumption has resulted in an increase in the reserve. The net impact of all these 
changes is a net decrease in projected liability.
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4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Capital Disability Assurance (continued)
(d) Assumptions Risk
Deviations from assumptions will result in actual cash flows being different from those projected in 
the policyholder liability calculations. As such, each assumption represents a source of uncertainty.

(e) Mortality Risk 
Mortality risk is the risk of loss arising due to actual policyholder death experience on life 
assurance policies being higher than expected.

There are a number of policy types which provide significant benefits on death of the policyholder 
or beneficiary. The impact of HIV and AIDS is of particular concern in Eswatini. The primary 
mortality risk mitigation strategies are:
• underwriting at the time when policies are written;
• the use of waiting periods and stepped sums assured to prevent anti-selection;
• reinsurance; 
• the Corporation carries out annual valuations where actual deaths are compared with what 

was expected.

(f) Longevity Risk
Longevity risk is the risk of loss arising due to annuitants living longer than expected.

The Corporation has a growing portfolio of non-profit immediate annuity policies which presents 
longevity risk. Currently no allowance is made in the valuation for mortality improvements, however, 
experience is monitored against expected payouts annually and variances are reported to the 
Audit Committee.

(g) Sensitivity Analysis
The following tables present the sensitivity of the value of insurance liabilities disclosed in this note 
to movements in the assumptions used in the estimation of insurance liabilities. The table below 
indicates the level of the respective variable that will trigger an adjustment and then indicates the 
liability adjustment required as a result of a further deterioration in the variable.

Sensitivity table

2019 2018

Change 
%

Gross 
E‘000

Net of
reinsurance

E‘000
Gross 
E‘000

Net of
 reinsurance

E‘000

Mortality rates +10 2 136 3 017 2 285 3 286
 -10 (2 689) (2 461) (3 066) (2 800)

Withdrawals +8 (2 468) (2 468) (2 362) (2 362)
 -8 2 589 2 589 2 479 2 479

Expenses +15 44 752 44 752 36 593 36 593
 -15 (44 538) (44 538) (36 378) (36 378)

Interest rate yield +1 (54 744) (54 744) (40 789) (40 789)
 -1 95 900 95 900 77 007 77 007
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The analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. 
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated 
– for example, change in interest rate and change in market values; and change in lapses and 
future mortality.

(h) Reinsurance Risk
The Corporation cedes insurance risk to limit exposure to underwriting losses under various 
agreements that cover individual risks, Corporation risks or defined blocks of business, on a 
proportional and excess or catastrophe excess basis. 

These reinsurance agreements spread the risk and minimise the effect of losses. The amount of 
each risk retained depends on the Corporation’s evaluation of the specific risk subject in certain 
circumstances, to maximum limits based on characteristics of coverage. Under the terms of the 
reinsurance agreements, the reinsurer agrees to reimburse the ceded amount in the event the 
claim is paid. However, the Corporation remains liable to its policyholders with respect to ceded 
insurance if any reinsurer fails to meet the obligation it assumes.

When selecting a reinsurer the Corporation considers their relative security. The security of the 
reinsurer is assessed from public rating information and that from internal investigations.

Credit ratings of insurance reinsurers are as follows:

2019      2018
Exposure

%
Premiums

%
Exposure

%
Premiums

%

AAA – – – –
AA+ – – – –
AA- 72 60 77 62
A+ – – – –
A – – – –
A- 15 20 14 20
B++ 6 5 4 6
BBB+ – – – –
BBB- 2 3 – –
Unrated 5 12 5 12

100% 100% 100 100

Premium rates pertain to premiums ceded to reinsurers during the period ended 31 December 2019 
and exposure rations relate to amounts owing from reinsurers at year-end. We have only listed major 
re-insurers.
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4. Management of Financial and Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2  Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Capital Disability Assurance (continued)
(i) The Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR) as Part of the Risk Management Framework
In order to comply with the requirements of SAP 104, a life insurance Corporation is required to 
hold capital in excess of its liabilities to ensure that it will remain solvent under adverse conditions 
in future years. The extent that a Corporation will be affected by adverse conditions depends on a 
number of factors, most importantly:
• The nature and term of the assets
• The types and duration of guarantees granted
• The ability to change contract terms and charges 
• The speed with which the Corporation can react to changing circumstances.

The required excess capital is termed the “Capital Adequacy Requirement” or CAR. This considers 
two potential risks.
• That all policies cease with immediate effect – the so-called Termination CAR or TCAR.
• That an accumulation of adverse circumstances in a number of quite different areas conspire 

to produce a highly detrimental capital position. This is the CAR in the ordinary line of business 
or OCAR.

It is important to note that the company can reduce their CAR by allowing for future management 
action, specifically the removal of non-vesting and terminal bonuses and allowing the bonus 
stabilisation reserve to go negative to a certain level, as well as reductions to future bonus 
declarations. The principle management actions assumed in the CAR calculation are the removal 
of a portion of the non-vested bonuses on DA and Lilunga business and terminal bonuses on with 
profits business.

The ESRIC CAR at 31 December 2019 is E129.9 million (2018: E118.3 million). This is the 
maximum of the OCAR post management action of E129.9 million and the TCAR of E10.0 million. 
The management action taken on OCAR was to remove E169.4 million of terminal bonuses.  
The impact of management action was to reduce OCAR from E304.3 million to E129.9 million. 

The increase in OCAR from the previous year is largely due to the investment CAR component. 
This component increased from E91.3 million in 2018 to E99.1 million in 2019 due to a larger 
liability in 2019 resulting in a bigger impact after the shocks. 

The mortality assumption risk component is higher in 2019 due to the increase in the AIDS liability 
mentioned. The increase in this and other components above result in an overall increase in OCAR.

ESRIC has an established dividend policy which has been applied for a number of years. The policy 
is such that 50% of any surplus in excess of two times the Capital Adequacy Requirement (“CAR”) 
is paid to shareholders in the form of a dividend. Application of the policy would result in a proposed 
dividend of E1.4 million for 2020.
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4.3 Fair Value Estimation
The Corporation measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs in making the measurements.

Effective 1 January 2009, the Corporation adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial 
instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value; this requires 
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy 
in accordance with IFRS 13:
• Level 1: Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument.
•  Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 

indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 
where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

•  Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and 
the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments.

An analysis of financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by 
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised can be found 
in the notes to the financial statements.

The following table presents the Corporation’s assets that are measured at fair value at 
31 December 2019.

Level 1
E’000

Level 2
E’000

Level 3
E’000

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
– Equity 429 442 428 145 169 780 –
– Capital market – 1 305 971 045 –
– Money market – 62 408 257 –
Investment property – – 46 502 194

Total assets 429 442 428 1 513 549 082 46 502 194

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
– Equity 495 035 067 129 279 551 –
– Capital market – 1 033 998 663 –
– Money market – 65 756 902 –
Investment property – – 44 500 000

Total assets 495 035 067 1 229 035 116 44 500 000
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES continued
for the year ended 31 December 2019

5. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgement
The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

  (a) The Ultimate Liability Arising from Claims Made Under Insurance Contracts 
– Incurred But Not Reported Claims.
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the 
Corporation’s most critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that 
need to be considered in the estimate of the liability that the Corporation will ultimately pay for 
such claims.

The Corporation believes that the liability for incurred but not reported claims carried at year-end 
is adequate. The methods and assumptions used in estimating the liability are detailed in 
accounting policy note 4.2.1.

Incurred but not reported claims have been disclosed in note 30.1.

 (b) Estimate of Life Insurance Liabilities for Investment and Insurance Contracts
The determination of the liabilities under life insurance contracts is dependent on estimates made 
by the Corporation’s statutory actuary. 

The Corporation believes that the liability for life Insurance liabilities for investment and insurance 
contracts carried at year-end is adequate. The methods and assumptions used in estimating the 
liability are detailed in accounting policy note 4.2.2.

Life insurance liabilities for investment and insurance contracts have been disclosed in note 30.1.

 (c) Taxation
Significant judgement is required in determining the Corporation’s provision for income taxes. 
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. Operating Segments
1.1  Identifying Operating Segments

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the 
board of directors that are used to make strategic decisions. All operating segments used by 
management meet definition of reportable segments under IFRS 8.

The Corporation is organised and has identified four reportable operating segments on both 
Non-life and Life insurance business based on the nature of the products and services delivered 
by each segment. These segments distribute their products through various forms of brokers, 
agencies and direct marketing programmes. Management identifies its reportable operating 
segments by product line consistent with the reports used by the board of directors. 

At 31 December 2019, the segments and their respective operations are as follows:

 Non-life Insurance Business
• Commercial insurance – providing cover on the assets and liabilities of business enterprise.
• Personal insurance – consisting of insurance to individuals and their personal property.

 Life Insurance Business
• Insurance contracts – contracts on which the Corporation accepts significant insurance risk 

from policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if insured event take place.
• Investment contracts – consist of contracts that transfer financial risk with no insurance risk. 

Refer note 34 and 35 for Non-life and Life insurance segment information analysis respectively.

1.2 Segment Information
Transactions between the business segments are carried out at arm’s length. The revenue from 
external parties reported to the executive committee and board of directors is measured in a 
manner consistent with that in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The Executive Committee and Board of Directors assess the performance of the operating 
segments based on a smoothed measure of operating profit. Unallocated costs represent 
corporate expenses, classified under investments and Shareholders funds.

The total amounts of assets and liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of 
financial statements. Assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, loans and 
receivables including insurance receivables, reinsurance assets, financial assets and operating 
cash. Liabilities comprise operating liabilities for both insurance and investment contracts, 
reinsurance liabilities and insurance and other payables excluding items such as taxation. 
These assets and liabilities are not allocated to any segments but included in corporate assets 
and liabilities.

1.3  Entity-wide Information
 Geographic Segments

The Corporation’s operations are wholly within Eswatini and its revenue is fully generated from 
within the country.

 Customer
Management considers its external customers to be the individual policyholders; as such the 
Corporation is not reliant on any individual customer.
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2019
E

2018
E

2. Expenditure
2.1 Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses include the following items:
Auditors’ remuneration
– External audit fees – current year 1 893 150 1 785 991
– External audit fees – prior year under provision – 672 877

1 893 150 2 458 868

– Internal audit and other related services 998 198 1 037 179

Actuarial fees 2 474 215 2 001 759

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 1 076 328 1 887 386

Directors emoluments – for services as directors 1 044 297 1 026 502

Depreciation (note 11) 3 172 752 3 044 262

Employee benefit expenses (note 8) 63 576 344 62 939 440

Insurance levy 7 785 486 7 413 535

Legal fees 431 589 267 506

Professional fees 1 649 384 3 092 830

Repairs and maintenance 5 152 762 4 512 734

Software licence and maintenance fees 10 755 673 12 501 551

2.2 Asset Management Expenses
Property management 297 219 451 770
Investment managers’ administration fees 9 544 412 7 021 635

9 841 631 7 473 405

3. Investment Income
Financial assets- at fair value through profit and loss:
– Dividend income 10 211 988 21 692 381
– Interest income 111 547 414 67 075 344
Loans and receivables interest income 756 828 623 317
Cash and cash equivalents interest income 12 787 379 26 535 865
Rental income and parking fees 5 981 533 8 000 760

141 285 142 123 927 667
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2019
E

2018
E

4. Net Realised Fair Value Gains 
4.1 Net Realised Fair Value Gains on 

Financial Assets:
Fair value gains on financial assets comprise of the following:
ABSA Asset Management – Non-life – 3 762 454
STANLIB Asset Managers – Life 19 231 897 40 051 860

19 231 897 43 814 314

4.2 Net Unrealised Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on 
Financial Assets
Unrealised fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets 26 404 910 (82 415 552)

4.3 Movement in Investment Contracts With DPF
Increase in investment contracts with DPF (note 31) (22 039 216) (836 390)

5. Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties
Fair value losses on investment property (note 13) (776 731) (1 470 048) 

6. Fee Income from Policyholders
Insurance contracts – Non-life 6 477 384 6 601 690
Insurance contracts and investment contracts – Life 14 517 271 15 534 662

20 994 655 22 136 352

7. Income Tax Expense
Eswatini normal Corporation taxation:
Current year (note 26) 58 199 589 50 916 487
Deferred taxation (note 16) 911 045 9 360 772

59 110 634 60 277 259

2019
%

2018
%

Taxation rate reconciliation:
Standard taxation rate 27.5 27.5
Income not subject to tax (0.7) (0.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.5 0.4

Effective taxation rate 27.3 27.2
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E

8. Employee Benefit Expenses
Salaries 39 810 275 42 608 894
Performance bonus 15 004 427 14 500 797
Staff welfare costs 964 214 830 940
Pension costs – defined contribution plan (note 28) 7 797 428 4 998 809

63 576 344 62 939 440

The average number of employees during the year was 112 
(2018:102).

9. Net Insurance Premium Income
Life insurance contracts with fixed guaranteed terms 274 789 331 255 277 196
Non-life insurance contracts 
– Premium written 519 439 272 504 992 607
– Change in unearned premium provision (8 409 893) (4 331 221)

Premium revenue arising from insurance 
contracts issued 785 818 710 755 938 582

Non-life reinsurance contracts
– Premium payables (note 24.1) (158 723 479) (146 194 356)
– Change in unearned premium provision 4 507 161 (3 454 370)
Life reinsurance contracts (note 24.1) (7 442 446) (12 197 331)

Premium revenue ceded to reinsurers on insurance 
contracts issued (161 658 764) (161 846 057)

Net premium income 624 159 946 594 092 525

10. Insurance Benefits and Claims
Life insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms:
– Death, maturity and surrender benefits (172 195 504) (138 909 858)
– Increase in actuarial insurance liabilities (note 32.1) (153 607 237) (79 363 043)
– Insurance benefits recoverable from reinsurers 9 856 812 5 930 988

Total cost of policyholder benefits (315 945 929) (212 341 913)
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Non-life insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses:

2019 2018

Gross
E

Rein-
surance

E
Net

E
Gross

E

Rein-
surance

E
Net

E

Current year claims 
paid and adjustment 
expenses 121 421 046 (27 102 350) 94 318 696 115 630 207 (28 219 586) 87 410 621
Change in provision 
for outstanding claims 4 128 063 5 833 762 9 961 825 (10 785 577) 12 816 923 2 031 346

Total claims incurred 
and adjustment 
expenses 125 549 109 (21 268 588) 104 280 521 104 844 630 (15 402 663) 89 441 967

Office
 furniture and

equipment
E

Motor
vehicles

E

Land
and

buildings
E

Total
E

11. Property, Plant and 
Equipment
Year ended 31 December 2019
Cost 
Opening balance 16 329 672 2 150 863 51 384 863 69 865 398
Additions 2 222 848 – 4 556 169 6 779 017
Revaluation gain/(loss) – – (8 975 324) (8 975 324)
Disposal (9 217) (77 705) – (86 922)

18 543 303 2 073 158 46 965 708 67 582 169

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance (12 389 766) (1 226 551) (10 725 633) (24 341 950)
Charge for the year (1 883 957) (305 371) (983 424) (3 172 752)
Disposal 3 782 63 376 – 67 158

(14 269 941) (1 468 546) (11 709 057) (27 447 544)

Net carrying amount 4 273 362 604 612 35 256 651 40 134 625
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Office
 furniture and

equipment
E

Motor
vehicles

E

Land
and

buildings
E

Total
E

11. Property, Plant and 
Equipment (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018
Cost 
Opening balance 17 079 524 1 807 570 48 983 230 67 870 324
Additions 2 661 683 502 900 1 801 633 4 966 216
Revaluation gain  – – 600 000 600 000 
Scrapped assets (3 411 535) – – (3 411 535)
Disposals – (159 607) – (159 607)

16 329 672 2 150 863 51 384 863 69 865 398

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance (13 973 058) (1 088 076) (9 807 694) (24 868 828)
Charge for the year (1 828 241) (298 082) (917 939) (3 044 262)
Scrapped assets 3 411 533 – – 3 411 533
Disposals – 159 607 – 159 607

(12 389 766) (1 226 551) (10 725 633) (24 341 950)

Net carrying amount 3 939 906 924 312 40 659 230 45 523 448

The Corporation’s land and buildings were revalued in December 2019. The revaluation was done 
on a fair market value method by ERIS Property Group. The land and buildings consists of Lot 2176, 
Mbabane, Hhohho, measuring 7 464m² and Lot 614, Matsapha, Manzini, measuring 3 814m².

Included in property, plant and equipment are fully depreciated items with an initial cost of 
E9 338 416 (2018: E9 234 901).

2019
E

2018
E

12. Intangible Assets – Computer Software
Cost
At the beginning of the year 34 309 194 27 868 691
Additions 9 083 162 12 153 728
Scrapped assets – (5 713 225)
Transfer to WIP (17 470 430) –
Work in process 17 470 430 –

At the end of the year 43 392 356 34 309 194
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2019
E

2018
E

Accumulated amortisation
At the beginning of the year (21 362 669) (25 188 508)
Charge for the year (1 076 328) (1 887 386)
Reversal of accumulated amortisation – scrapped assets – 5 713 225

At the end of the year (22 438 997) (21 362 669)

Net carrying amount 20 953 359 12 946 525

Included in intangible assets are fully amortised items with an initial cost of E9 758 398 
(2018: E9 428 662).

Land and 
buildings

E

13. Investment Properties
31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 44 500 000
Capitalised subsequent expenditure 2 778 926
Net loss from fair value adjustment (776 731)

At the end of the year 46 502 195

31 December 2018
At the beginning of the year 43 300 000
Capitalised subsequent expenditure 2 670 048
Net loss from fair value adjustment (1 470 048)

At the end of the year 44 500 000

The investment property consists of Lilunga House, which is held for rental income purposes and 
for capital appreciation. The amount shown above represents an estimate of fair value at the 
statement of financial position date.

Fair value is based on valuations that are done by a professional firm of valuers, ERIS Property 
Group. The last valuation was performed on 31 December 2019. 

There are no restrictions to the realisability of this property and the property is not pledged as 
security for any liability.

A register of Investment Properties at 31 December 2019 is available for inspection at the 
Corporation’s registered office.
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2019
E

2018
E

14. Financial Assets 
At fair value through profit and loss (note 14.1) 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183

14.1 At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Non-current
Swaziland Building Society – permanent unlisted shares 145 169 780 129 279 551
Swazi Spa Holdings Limited – equity 1 148 400 1 148 400
Nedbank Swaziland Limited – equity 3 300 000 3 300 000
Royal Swaziland Sugar Corporation – equity 2 100 000 2 100 000
Allan Gray Asset Managers 126 188 916 –
Investec Asset Managers 134 193 496 –
Prudential Investment Managers 124 688 747 –

536 789 339 135 827 951

Current
Investment managed by STANLIB Asset Managers:
– Equity 399 272 990 467 218 318
– Capital market 825 986 401 966 546 666
– Money market 33 795 115 39 546 118
Investment managed by African Alliance
– Money market 16 455 382 15 263 954
Investment managed by ABSA Asset Managers:
– Equity 23 621 038 21 268 349
– Capital market 74 913 485 67 451 997

– Money market 12 157 760 10 946 830

1 386 202 171 1 588 242 232

1 922 991 510 1 724 070 183

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within “investing activities” in the 
statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in ‘net 
realised and unrealised fair value gains on financial assets’ in the statement of comprehensive 
income (note 4.1 and 4.2).

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid prices in an active market.

2019
E

2018
E

14.2 Held-to-maturity
Debt securities – fixed interest rate:
– Unlisted 20 000 –

20 000 –
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2019
E
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E

15. Loans and Receivables Including Insurance 
Receivables
Receivables arising from insurance contracts:
– due from agents, brokers and intermediaries 68 031 830 71 822 573
Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts:
– due from reinsurers 14 715 757 984 360
Other receivables: 110 063 208 99 622 638

Staff receivables 18 988 173 18 086 837
Other receivables 11 442 446 6 714 975
Loans to agents 254 584 260 667
Loans to policyholders 79 378 005 74 560 159

192 810 795 172 429 571

The fair value of the trade and other receivables approximate their book values as included above.

At 31 December 2019, none of the receivables are past due. The entity further believes that no 
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of receivables as no objective evidence existed at 
year-end to indicate that one or more events may have a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows expected from any individual balance.

2019
E

2018
E

16. Deferred Income Tax Asset
Deferred income tax asset 1 481 422 2 392 467

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporarily differences under the liability method 
using the principal tax rate of 27.5% (2018: 27.5%). 

The gross movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking 
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

2019
E

2018
E

At the beginning of the year 2 392 467 11 753 239
Arising from property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets (911 045) 791 356
Arising from restated insurance contract liabilities – (10 152 128)

At the end of the year 1 481 422 2 392 467
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16. Deferred Income Tax Asset (continued)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable 
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2019
E

2018
E

Deferred income tax assets to be recovered in less 
than 12 months (Restated balances):
–  Difference between depreciation and wear and tear 

allowances 1 481 422 2 392 467

1 481 422 2 392 467

17. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on hand 8 000 10 000
Short term deposits with local banks 289 691 319 294 402 791

289 699 319 294 412 791

18. Reinsurance Assets
Reinsurers’ share of insurance assets 111 433 790 102 564 614

The movement in the reinsurance assets account is 
as follows:
At the beginning of the year 102 564 614 119 607 262
Movements in asset held in respect of amounts due by 
reinsurers in respect of ceded claims. 8 869 176 (17 042 648)

At the end of the year (note 30.1) 111 433 790 102 564 614

18.1 The Reinsurers’ Share of Insurance Liabilities Includes:
111 433 790 102 564 615

Outstanding claims (note 30.1) 53 868 154 49 123 645
Unearned premiums (note 30.1) 55 287 121 50 779 960
Insurance contracts (note 30.1) 2 278 515 2 661 009

Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid by the Corporation on the 
contracts that are reinsured are included in loans and other receivables (note 15).
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2019
E

2018
E

19. Deferred Acquisition Costs
The movement in the deferred acquisition costs account is 
as follows:
At the beginning of the year 9 530 443 8 443 725
Acquisition expenses paid 64 561 176 61 989 068
Charged to statement of comprehensive income during the 
year (note 20) (64 726 362) (60 902 350)

At the end of the year 9 365 257 9 530 443

20. Net Expenses of Acquisition of 
Insurance Contracts
Expenses for acquisition of insurance contract – Non-life (64 726 362) (60 902 350)

– Life (23 846 260) (25 114 094)

Total commission expenses (88 572 622) (86 016 444)

Fees earned from reinsurance contracts – Non-life 41 610 758 33 795 191
– Life 1 980 110 2 110 557

Total commission income 43 590 868 35 905 748

Net expenses of acquisition of insurance contracts (44 981 754) (50 110 696)

21. Share Capital
Authorised share capital – 4 000 000 (2018: 4 000 000) 
ordinary shares of E1 each 4 000 000 4 000 000

Issued share capital – 4 000 000 (2018: 4 000 000) 
ordinary shares of E1 each 4 000 000 4 000 000

The reconciliation of authorised and issued share capital is as follows:

2019 2018
Authorised

E
Issued

E
Authorised

E
Issued

E

At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000

At the end of the year 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000

There were no changes to the authorised and issued share capital during the year.

The requirement of Clause 7(2) of the Insurance Act, 2005 is that an insurer shall have a minimum 
share capital of E2 000 000. ESRIC has a share capital of E4 000 000 because it has two 
insurance licenses for both its Non-life and Life insurance businesses.
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2019
E

2018
E

22. Revaluation Reserves
At the beginning of the year 29 046 987 28 446 987
Revaluation – land and buildings (note 11) (8 975 324) 600 000

At the end of the year 20 071 663 29 046 987

The revaluation reserve arose when the Corporation’s land and buildings were last revalued in 
December 2019. The revaluation was done by a professional firm of valuers, ERIS Property Group. 

Non-life
portion

E

Life
portion

E
Total

E

23. Retained Earnings
Year ended 31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 312 743 493 244 308 055 557 051 548
Comprehensive income for the year 135 354 746 22 169 079 157 523 825
Dividends paid (137 000 000) (4 000 000) (141 000 000)

At the end of the year 311 098 239 262 477 134 573 575 373

Year ended 31 December 2018
At the beginning of the year 290 470 330 252 626 623 543 096 953
Comprehensive income for the year 134 273 163 26 981 432 161 254 595
Dividends paid (112 000 000) (35 300 000) (147 300 000)

At the end of the year 312 743 493 244 308 055 557 051 548

2019
E

2018
E

24. Reinsurance Liabilities
Premiums due to reinsurers (refer note 24.1) 21 311 505 22 407 198

24.1 The Movement in Premiums Due to Reinsurers 
is as Follows:
At the beginning of the year 22 407 198 14 288 686
Non-life reinsurance contracts (note 9) 158 723 479 146 194 356
Life reinsurance contracts (note 9) 7 442 446 12 197 331
Cash paid to reinsurers (167 261 619) (150 273 175)

At the end of the year 21 311 505 22 407 198
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2019
E

2018
E

25. Insurance and Other Payables
Commission due to agents and brokers 16 204 928 15 466 428
Trade and other payables 27 122 687 23 271 321

– Trade accounts payable 10 541 584 12 427 598
– Other payables 16 581 103 10 843 723

43 327 615 38 737 749

26. Current Income Tax Liability
The movement in the current income tax account is 
as follows: 
At the beginning of the year (4 279 624) 7 769 585
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 58 199 588 50 916 487
Paid during the year (50 916 487) (62 965 696)

At the end of the year 3 003 477 (4 279 624)

Performance
bonus

E
Total

E

27. Employee Benefit Provisions
For the year ended 31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 14 665 378 14 665 378
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 15 275 270 15 275 270
Utilised during the year (14 665 378) (14 665 378)

At the end of the year 15 275 270 15 275 270

For the year ended 31 December 2018
At the beginning of the year 13 640 490 13 640 490
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 14 665 190 14 665 190
Utilised during the year (13 640 302) (13 640 302)

At the end of the year 14 665 378 14 665 378

 Performance Bonus
Provision is made for payments in accordance with a bonus plan for the year ended 
31 December 2019. The bonus provision consists of a performance-based bonus, which is 
determined by reference to the overall Corporation performance with regard to a set of 
pre-determined key performance areas. The cash flow is expected to occur in the 2020 financial 
year when the results have been approved.
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28. Retirement Benefits
The Corporation provides retirement benefits for all its employees through the Pension fund of the 
Corporation which is a defined contribution plan. Employees contribute 7% (2018: 7%) of their 
pensionable emoluments. The employer contributes 18.3% of pensionable emoluments part of 
which pays for risk benefits.

2019
E

2018
E

Defined contribution plan
– Employer 8 797 428 7 797 428
– Employee 3 082 623 2 982 623

29. Cash Flow Information
29.1 Insurance Premium Received

Life insurance contracts with fixed guaranteed terms (note 9) 274 789 331 255 277 196
Non-life insurance contracts – premium written (note 9) 519 439 272 504 992 607
Opening insurance premium receivable (note 15) 71 822 573 54 317 381
Closing insurance premium receivable (note 15) (68 031 830) (71 822 573)

798 019 346 742 764 611

29.2 Payments to Intermediaries to Acquire Insurance 
Contracts
Opening commission payable (note 25) (15 466 428) (9 884 076)
Commission expense charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income (note 20) (88 572 622) (86 016 444)
Closing commission payable (note 25) 16 204 928 15 466 428
Opening deferred acquisition commission (note 19) 9 530 443 8 443 725
Closing deferred acquisition commission (note 19) (9 365 257) (9 530 443)

(87 668 936) (81 520 810)

29.3 Cash Paid to Employees and Other Suppliers 
for Services Rendered
Operating expenses (127 979 951) (126 817 203)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 1 076 328 1 887 386
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 11) 3 937 125 3 044 262
Opening provisions for other liabilities (note 27) (14 665 378) (13 640 491)
Closing provisions for other liabilities (note 27) 15 275 270 14 665 378
Opening trade and other payables excluding commission 
payables (note 25) (23 272 321) (23 529 137)
Closing trade and other payables excluding commission 
payables (note 25) 27 122 687 23 271 321

(118 506 243) (121 118 484)
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29.4 Net Movements in Financial Assets
At the beginning of the year 1 724 070 183 1 646 916 611
Unrealised fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets 26 404 910 82 415 552
Fair value gains on financial assets 19 231 897 43 814 314
Investment managers’ administration fees (9 841 631) (7 473 406)
Net movements in financial assets 183 126 151 123 228 216

At the end of the year (note 14) 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183

29.5 Cash Utilised to Finance Other Receivables  
(note 15)
Opening receivables excluding receivables from 
insurance contracts 100 606 998 87 542 833
Closing receivables excluding receivables from 
insurance contracts (124 778 965) (100 606 998)

(24 171 967) (13 064 165)

30 Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets – 
Insurance Contracts

30.1 Gross
Non-life insurance contracts
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 90 597 885 96 642 007
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 60 206 000 36 548 281
– Unearned premiums reserve 173 675 789 165 265 894
Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms (note 32.2) 1 240 814 320 1 087 207 083
– Outstanding claims 8 190 638 9 523 269

Total insurance liabilities – gross 1 573 484 632 1 395 186 534

Recoverable from reinsurers
Non-life insurance contracts:
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 23 765 154 38 550 301
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 30 103 000 10 573 344
– Unearned premiums reserve 55 287 121 50 779 960
Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms 2 278 515 2 661 009

Total reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities (note 18) 111 433 790 102 564 614
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30. Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets 
– Insurance Contracts (continued)

30.1 Gross (continued)
Net
Non-life insurance contracts
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 66 832 731 58 091 706
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 30 103 000 25 974 937
– Unearned premiums reserve 118 388 667 114 485 934
Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms 1 238 535 805 1 084 546 075
– Outstanding claims 8 190 638 9 521 980

Total insurance liabilities 1 462 050 841 1 292 620 632

30.1.1 Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets – 
insurance contracts
(a) Claims and loss adjustment expenses
Gross outstanding claims – Non-life
Outstanding claims 90 597 885 96 642 007
Provision for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims 60 206 000 36 548 281

Gross outstanding claims 150 803 885 133 190 288
Reinsurance on outstanding claims (note 18.1) (53 868 154) (49 123 645)

Net outstanding claims 96 935 731 84 066 643

The movement in Non-life outstanding claims is 
as follows:
Net outstanding claims at the beginning of the year 84 066 643 82 035 296

Gross claims 96 642 007 106 959 093
Provision for incurred but not reported claims 51 949 874 38 110 010
Reinsurance on gross claims (38 550 301) (51 367 223)
Reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims (25 974 937) (11 666 584)

Net cash paid for claims settled in the year (91 411 433) (87 410 621)

Gross (note 10) (127 465 167) (115 630 207)
Less reinsurance 36 053 734 28 219 586

Net increase in claims liabilities during the year 104 280 521 89 441 968

Gross 121 421 046 105 313 120
Change in provision for incurred but not reported claims (13 012 462) (1 561 729)
Reinsurance on gross claims incurred (21 268 588) (15 402 664)
Change in reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims 17 140 525 1 093 240
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Net outstanding claims at the end of the year 96 935 731 84 066 643

Gross claims 90 597 885 96 642 007
Provision for incurred but not reported claims 60 206 000 36 548 281
Reinsurance on gross claims (23 765 154) (38 550 301)
Reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims (30 103 000) (10 573 344)

Gross outstanding claims – Life
Outstanding claims 8 190 634 9 523 269

The movement in Life outstanding claims is as follows:
Net outstanding claims at the beginning of the year 9 523 269 9 263 053

– Gross 9 523 269 9 263 053
– Reinsurance – –

Net increase in claims liabilities during the year 161 956 198 133 300 754

– Gross 172 195 504 138 909 858
– Reinsurance (10 239 306) (5 609 104)

Net cash paid for claims settled in the year (163 288 830) (133 040 538)

– Gross (173 528 135) (138 649 642)
– Reinsurance 10 239 305 5 609 104

Net outstanding claims 8 190 634 9 523 269

– Gross outstanding claims at the end of the year 8 190 634 9 523 269
– Reinsurance on outstanding claims – –

Gross outstanding claims – aggregated
Gross outstanding claims 160 614 523 158 115 150
Re-insurance on outstanding claims (23 765 154) (38 550 301)

136 849 369 119 564 849

Net cash paid for claims settled during the year – 
aggregated
Net cash paid for claims settled during the year (253 080 263) (220 451 159)

Gross claims (299 373 303) (254 279 849)
Reinsurance claims 46 293 040 33 828 690
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30. Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets – 
Insurance Contracts (continued)

30.1 Gross (continued)
30.1.1 Movements in Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets 

– Insurance Contracts (continued)
(b) Provisions for Unearned Premiums
The movements for the year are summarised below:
Gross unearned premiums provision 173 675 788 165 265 895
Premium ceded to reinsurers (55 287 121) (50 779 960)

Net provision for unearned premiums 118 388 667 114 485 935

The movement in the unearned premiums account 
during the year was as follows:
At the beginning of the year 114 485 935 106 700 344
Net decrease during the year 3 902 732 7 785 591

Changes in gross unearned premiums (note 9) 8 409 893 4 331 221
Changes in unearned premiums reinsurance (note 9) (4 507 161) 3 454 370

At the end of the year 118 388 667 114 485 935

These provisions represent the liability for non-life 
insurance contracts for which the Corporation’s obligations 
are not expired.

(c) Life insurance contracts
The movement in the Life insurance contracts during 
the year was as follows:
At beginning of year 1 087 207 083 1 007 844 040
Valuation premium 270 021 584 255 277 196
Liabilities released for payments on death and other 
terminations in the year (162 338 692) (132 978 870)
Other movements 45 924 344 (42 935 283)

At end of year 1 240 814 320 1 087 207 083

As defined in the accounting policies, valuation premiums are the amounts of premiums received 
that directly increase the insurance liabilities.
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The movements in the liabilities arising from investment 
contracts with DPF are summarised below:
At beginning of year 351 554 272 337 237 573
Premiums received (note 35) 69 296 326 61 609 680
Investment contracts benefit expenses (note 35) (41 895 265) (48 129 371)
Increase in investment contracts with DPF 22 039 216 836 390

At end of year (note 32) 400 994 549 351 554 272

32. Life Fund Valuation
32.1 Life Insurance and Investment Business Liabilities

In accordance with the Insurance Act of 2005 an actuarial 
valuation of the Life fund was carried out on 31 December 2019 
by Deloitte & Touche. 

 
The movement in the Life fund account is accounted for 
as follows:
At the beginning of the year 1 438 761 356 1 345 081 613
Investment products – pensions and annuities (note 35) 69 296 326 61 609 680
Other increase/(decrease) in investment contracts liability 22 039 216 836 390
Investment contracts benefit expenses (note 35) (41 895 265) (48 129 370)
Increase in insurance liabilities 153 607 237 79 363 043

At the end of the year (note 32.2) 1 641 808 869 1 438 761 356

32.2 The Summary of Actuarial Liabilities
The summary of actuarial liabilities is as follows:

Summary of actuarial liabilities

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018
Gross of

reinsurance
E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Gross of
reinsurance

E

Net of
reinsurance

E

Insurance products 
(note 30.1.1) 1 240 814 320  1 238 535 805 1 087 207 084 1 084 546 075
Investment products 
(note 31) 400 994 549 400 994 549 351 554 272 351 554 272

1 641 808 869 1 639 530 354 1 438 761 356 1 436 100 347
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32. Life Fund Valuation (continued)
32.2 The Summary of Actuarial Liabilities (continued)

The results of the valuation are as follows:
Market value of assets (note 32.2.1) 1 901 557 488 1 680 408 400
Less: Policyholder actuarial liability 1 436 032 565

Individual life (including bonuses) 788 163 202 700 087 217
Pension and Corporation life 771 652 686 664 524 040
Additional reserves
Bonus stabilisation reserve 29 831 748 21 586 168
Data reserve 45 500 000 45 500 000
Reserve in respect of matured policies 4 382 718 3 552 140

Excess of assets over liabilities 262 027 134 244 375 835

32.2.1 Reconciliation of Market Value of Assets
Total assets (note 35) 1 952 534 341 1 731 016 771
Less: Current liabilities (note 35) (48 248 338) (47 947 362)
Reinsurance share on insurance contracts (note 30.1) (2 728 515) (2 661 009)

Market value of assets 1 901 557 488 1 680 408 400 

Entity Nature of relationship

33. Related Party Transactions
33.1 Related Parties Consist of the Following Entities:

Kingdom of Eswatini Government Shareholder (47.8%)
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited Shareholder (16%)
Cougar Investment Holdings Limited Shareholder (16%)
INBA Holdings Limited Shareholder (7.6%)
Public Services Pension Fund Shareholder (7.6%)
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company South Africa Shareholder (5%)
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33.2 Transactions with Related Parties During the Year
33.2.1 Commission Received from Reinsurance Included in 

Acquisition Expenses (Net of Commission Expense):
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 9 127 152 8 111 683
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 811 421 639 850
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited 902 620 592

9 939 475 9 372 125

33.2.2 Premiums Paid to Reinsurers Included in Net Premiums:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 39 200 698 38 462 260
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 2 836 753 2 546 742
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited 2 721 518 5 308 874

44 758 969 46 317 876

33.2.3 Treaty Claims Recoveries During the Year Included in 
Reinsurers’ Share of Claims Incurred:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 3 341 629 4 689 298
Zurich Insurance Company Limited – 619 882

3 341 629 5 309 180

Balance outstanding from insurance business with related 
parties were as follows:

33.2.4 Claims Recoveries Due from Reinsurers at Year-end 
Included in Insurance Receivables:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 285 676 226 773
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 1 902 703 86 253

2 188 380 313 026

33.2.5 Premiums Owed to Reinsurers at Year-end Included in 
Reinsurance Liabilities:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 2 345 163 1 899 716
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 244 523 703 821

2 589 686 2 603 537

33.2.6 Directors and Executive Management Compensation
Executive management compensation 6 365 192 6 979 633

Directors fees 993 800 615 901
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33. Related Party Transactions (continued)
33.2 Transactions with Related Parties During 

the Year (continued)
33.2.7 Loans to Related Parties

Loans to Executive Management 1 649 985 1 847 231

33.2.8 Dividends paid to shareholders
Eswatini Government 57 810 000 60 393 000
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 22 560 000 23 568 000
Cougar Investment Holdings Limited 22 560 000 23 568 000
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited 12 690 000 13 257 000
INBA Holdings Limited 9 165 000 9 575 000
Public Services Pension Fund 9 165 000 9 575 000
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company South Africa 7 050 000 7 364 000

141 000 000 147 300 000

Transactions with related parties are on an arm’s length basis and no special conditions apply.

33.3 Doubtful Debts
There is no provision for doubtful debts, nor any bad debt written off during the year 2019 and 
2018, that relates to related parties.

Commercial
E

Personal
E

Investments
E

Total
E

34. Operating Segment 
34.1 Divisional Segments –  

Non-life Insurance Business
2019
Gross premiums 406 192 730 113 246 543 – 519 439 273
Less: Reinsurance premiums (150 658 265) (8 068 423) – (158 723 479)

Net premiums 255 534 465 105 178 120 – 360 715 794
Change in provision for 
unearned premiums (4 801 660) 898 928 – (3 902 732)

Earned premiums net of 
reinsurance 250 732 805 106 077 048 – 356 813 062
Commission income 41 388 396 222 362 – 41 610 758
Income from investments

Investment income – – 35 489 712 35 489 712
Unrealised surplus on investments – – 728 113 728 113
Other operating income 25 687 25 687

Net income 292 121 201 106 299 410 36 243 512 434 667 332
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Net policyholder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred (125 179 296) (369 814) – (125 549 110)
Reinsurers’ share of claims and 
benefits incurred (31 445 985) 52 714 573 – 21 268 588

Acquisition costs (52 201 158) (12 525 204) – (64 726 362)
Administrative fees – – – 6 477 384
Administrative expenses (83 722 449) – (1 268 910) (84 991 359)

Operating profit before tax (427 687) 146 118 965 34 974 602 187 146 472
Taxation (51 791 726)

Operating profit after tax 135 354 746

Segmental assets
Property, plant and equipment 39 993 240
Intangibles 16 548 810
 Right of use asset 6 214 515
 Deferred taxation 611 180
Investments 362 625 408
Bank and cash 72 761 586
Loans and receivables 126 236 973
Technical assets 118 520 533

Total assets 743 512 246

Segmental liabilities
Technical reserves 324 479 674
Reinsurance liabilities 21 311 505
Current tax liability 12 594 204
Current liabilities 49 956 822

Total liabilities 408 342 345
Shareholders’ funds 335 169 901

Total equity and liabilities 743 512 246 
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34. Operating Segment 
(continued) 

34.1 Divisional 
Segments – Non-life 
Insurance Business 
(continued)
2018
Gross premiums 389 091 178 115 900 651 – 504 991 829
Less: Reinsurance premiums (137 738 212) (8 455 367) – (146 193 579)

Net Premiums 251 352 966 107 445 284 – 358 798 250
Change in provision for 
unearned premiums (7 914 981) 128 754 – (7 786 227)

Earned premiums net of 
reinsurance 243 437 985 107 574 038 – 351 012 023
Commission income 33 532 266 262 925 – 33 795 191
Income from investments

Investment income – – 32 687 197 32 687 197
Unrealised surplus on investments – – (3 709 457) (3 709 457)

276 970 251 107 836 963 28 977 740 413 784 953

Net income
Net policyholder benefits incurred

Claims and benefits incurred (104 578 693) (265 937) – (104 844 630)
Reinsurers’ share of claims 
and benefits incurred (39 284 914) 54 687 577 – 15 402 663

Acquisition costs (47 702 859) (13 199 491) (60 902 350)
Administrative fees 6 601 690 – – 6 601 690
Administrative expenses (85 230 409) – – (85 230 409)

Operating profit before tax 6 775 066 149 059 112 28 977 740 184 811 918
Taxation (50 538 754)

Operating Profit after tax 134 273 164

Segmental assets
Property, plant and equipment 44 201 562
Intangibles 10 426 056
Deferred taxation 962 089
Investments 332 230 221
Bank and cash 95 685 549
Loans and receivables 114 753 575
Technical assets 124 835 642

Total assets 723 094 694
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Segmental liabilities
Technical reserves 313 856 485
Reinsurance liabilities 22 407 198
Current tax liability 3 561 988
Current liabilities 38 221 128

Total liabilities 378 046 799
Shareholders’ funds 345 047 895

Total equity and liabilities 723 094 694

Investment
products

E

Insurance
products

E

Share-
holder’s

fund
E

Total
E

35. Divisional Segments – Life
2019
Gross premiums – 201 127 800 – 201 127 800
Less: Reinsurance premiums – (7 442 446) – (7 442 446)

Net premiums – 193 685 354 – 193 685 354
Pension and annuities 69 296 326 68 893 784 – 138 190 110

Earned premiums net 
of reinsurance 69 296 326 262 579 138 – 331 875 464
Commission income – 1 980 110 – 1 980 110
Operating Income 35 177 193 92 887 107 30 971 175 159 035 475

Investment Income and unrealised 
gains on investments 35 177 193 84 314 486 30 435 714 149 927 393
Other operating income – – – –
Fair value losses on 
investment property – – – –
Interest on policy loans – 8 572 622 535 461 9 108 082
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35. Divisional Segments – Life 
(continued)
Net income 104 473 519 357 446 354 30 971 175 492 891 049
Net policy holder benefits incurred

Claims and benefits incurred – (140 157 206) – (140 157 206)
Benefits paid from pensions 
and annuities (41 895 265) (32 038 298) – (73 933 563)
Increase in Insurance liabilities – (153 607 237) – (153 607 237)
Decrease in Investment 
contracts (49 440 276) – – (49 440 276)
Insurance benefits recovered 
from reinsurers – 9 856 812 – 9 856 812

Acquisition cost – (23 846 260) – (23 846 260)
Administrative fees 4 026 754 15 258 264 – 19 285 018
Management expenses (4 553 591) (38 434 038) – (42 987 629)
Asset management expenses (2 728 076) (4 887 066) (957 579) (8 572 721)

Operating profit/(loss) 9 883 065 (10 408 674) 30 013 596 29 487 987
Taxation (7 318 908)

Profit for the year 22 169 078

Segmental assets
Property, plant and equipment 141 384
Intangibles 4 404 549
Investment property 46 502 194
Investments 1 580 366 102
Deferred tax asset 870 242
Bank and cash 216 937 733
Loans and receivables 91 442 897
Technical assets 2 278 515
Current tax asset 9 590 725 

Total assets 1 952 534 341

Segmental liabilities
Life portion of retained income 
(note 23) 262 477 134
Life assurance liabilities (note 32.1) 1 641 808 869
Current liabilities 48 248 338

Total liabilities 1 952 534 341
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2018
Gross premiums – 209 713 889 – 209 713 889
Less: Reinsurance premiums – (12 197 331) – (12 197 331)

Net premiums – 197 516 558 – 197 516 558
Pension and annuities 61 609 680 45 563 306 – 107 172 986

Earned premiums net of 
reinsurance 61 609 680 243 079 864 – 304 689 544
Commission income – 2 110 557 – 2 110 557
Operating income 13 220 991 38 190 073 11 935 887 63 346 951

Investment income and unrealised 
gains on investments 13 220 991 31 688 744 11 438 954 56 348 689
Other operating income – 10 000 – 10 000
Fair value losses on investment 
property – (1 464 466) – (1 464 466)
Interest on policy loans – 7 955 795 496 933 8 452 728

Net income 74 830 671 283 380 494 11 935 887 370 147 052
Net policy holder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred – (112 333 965) – (112 333 965)
Benefits paid from pensions and 
annuities (48 129 370) (26 575 893) – (74 705 263)
Increase in insurance liabilities – (79 363 043) – (79 363 043)
Increase in investment contracts (14 316 699) – – (14 316 699)
Insurance benefits recovered 
from reinsurers – 5 930 989 – 5 930 989
Acquisition cost – (25 114 094) – (25 114 094)
Administrative fees 3 141 183 12 393 479 – 15 534 662
Management expenses (4 533 864) (38 267 534) – (42 801 398)
Asset management expenses (1 991 565) (3 567 681) (699 057) (6 258 303)

Operating profit 9 000 356 16 482 752 11 236 830 36 719 938
Taxation (9 738 506)

Profit for the year 26 981 432
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35. Divisional Segments – Life 
(continued)
Segmental assets
Property, plant and equipment 297 439
Intangibles 2 520 469
Investment property 44 500 000
Investments 1 391 839 962
Deferred tax liability 1 430 378
Bank and cash 198 727 242
Loans and receivables 80 916 939
Technical assets 2 661 009
Current tax asset 8 123 335

Total assets 1 731 016 773

Segmental liabilities
Life portion of retained income 
(note 23) 244 308 055
Life assurance liabilities 
(note 32.1) 1 438 761 356
Current liabilities 47 947 362

Total liabilities 1 731 016 773

Less than
one month

or available/
payable on 

demand
E

More 
than one

 month but
less than
one year

E

One 
to five
 years

E
Total

E

36. Liquidity Analysis
2019
Financial and insurance 
assets
Financial assets 1 797 821 730 145 169 780 – 1 942 991 510
Reinsurance assets 111 433 790 – – 111 433 790
Loans and receivables (including 
insurance receivables) – 192 810 795 – 192 810 795
Cash and cash equivalents 289 699 319 – – 289 699 319

Total assets 2 198 954 839 337 980 575 – 2 536 935 414
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Financial and insurance 
liabilities
Insurance liabilities – insurance 
contracts 1 573 095 157 – – 1 573 095 157
Insurance liabilities – investment 
contracts 400 994 549 – – 400 994 549
Reinsurance liabilities – 21 311 505 – 21 311 505
Insurance and other payables – 43 717 090 – 43 717 090

Total liabilities 1 974 089 706 65 028 595 – 2 039 118 301

2018
Financial and insurance assets
Financial assets 1 588 242 232 135 827 951 – 1 724 070 183
Reinsurance assets 102 564 614 – – 102 564 614
Loans and receivables (including 
insurance receivables) – 172 429 571 – 172 429 571
Cash and cash equivalents 294 412 791 – – 294 412 791

Total assets 1 985 219 637 308 257 522 – 2 293 477 159

Financial and insurance 
liabilities
Insurance liabilities – 
Insurance contracts 1 395 186 534 – – 1 395 186 534
Insurance liabilities – 
Investment contracts 351 554 272 – – 351 554 272
Reinsurance liabilities – 22 407 198 – 22 407 198
Insurance and other payables – 38 738 899 – 38 738 899

Total liabilities 1 746 740 806 61 146 097 – 1 807 886 903
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37. Dividends
The dividends paid in 2019 amounted to E141 000 000 (E35.25 per share) [2018: E147 300 000 
(E36.83 per share)]. 

38. Contingencies 
As at 31 December 2019, the Corporation was involved in various legal actions relating to 
operational matters. For claims related matters the Corporation reserves all actions where the 
directors are of the opinion that significant loss is likely to be suffered have been provided for in 
the financial statements.

39. Events after Statement of Financial Position Date  
A dividend of E19.41 per share has been declared in respect of the period ended 31 December 2019. 
The total amount of the dividend declared is E77 651 000. This was approved subsequent to year-end 
at a board meeting held on 31 March 2020. 

Subsequent to year end, a Global disease (COVID-19) broke which impacted all countries in the world. 
With the rising negative effects of the pandemic and its danger on the health of citizens, the World 
Health Organization declared the disease a pandemic. This resulted in the government of Eswatini 
declaring a partial lockdown on all non-essential services from 17 March 2020. The partial lockdown 
will have an impact on the business operations for 31 December 2020, however due to the 
uncertainties involved, a reliable estimate of the impact could not be made.

2019
E

2018
E

40. Leases
Right-of-use assets
Opening balance – –
Additions 6 978 888 –
Accumulated depreciation (764 373) –

At year-end 6 214 515 –

Lease liabilities
Current 762 766 –
Non-current 5 779 937 –

6 542 703 –

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings (764 373) –

Interest expense (included in finance costs) (538 291) –

The Corporation has two operating leases in respect of its Manzini and Nhlangano Offices. 

Until the 2018 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as operating 
leases. From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Corporation.
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ANNEXURE 1
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Statement of Comprehensive Income – Non-life Business

2019
E

2018
E

Gross insurance premium revenue 519 439 272 504 992 607
Change in provision for unearned premiums (3 902 732) (7 785 590)

Insurance premium revenue 515 536 540 497 207 017
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers (158 723 479) (146 194 356)

Net insurance premium revenue 356 813 061 351 012 661
Claims incurred net of reinsurance (104 280 522) (89 441 967)

Insurance claims expenses (91 411 433) (87 410 621)

– gross claims expense paid (127 465 167) (115 630 207)
– recovered from reinsurers’ 36 053 734 28 219 586

Change in the provision for outstanding claims (12 869 088) (2 031 346)

– gross amount (2 212 005) (3 522 777)
– reinsurers’ share (10 657 083) 1 491 431

Net expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (23 115 604) (27 107 159)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (64 726 362) (60 902 350)
Fees earned from reinsurance contracts 41 610 758 33 795 191

Management expenses (83 722 449) (84 015 944)

Underwriting surplus 145 694 487 150 447 591
Investment income 35 489 712 32 687 197
Fair value unrealised gains/(losses) 728 113 (3 709 457)
Insurance policy administration fees 6 477 384 6 601 690
Asset management expenses (1 268 910) (1 215 102) 
Other operating income 25 687 –

Profit before income tax expense 187 146 472 184 811 919
Income tax expense (51 791 726) (50 538 754)

Profit for the year 135 354 747 134 273 163
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Statement of Comprehensive Income – Life Business

2019
E

2018
E

Insurance premium revenue 201 127 800 209 713 889
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers (7 442 446) (12 197 331)

Net insurance premium revenue 193 685 354 197 516 558
Contributions from pensions and retirement annuity schemes 68 893 784 45 563 307
Net insurance benefits (283 907 631) (185 766 020)

Increase in insurance liabilities (153 607 237) (79 363 043)
Gross insurance benefits (140 157 206) (112 333 965)
Insurance benefits recoverable from reinsurers 9 856 812 5 930 988

Benefits paid from pension and retirement annuity schemes (32 038 298) (26 575 893)
Net expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (21 866 150) (23 003 537)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (23 846 260) (25 114 094)
Fees earned from reinsurance contracts 1 980 110 2 110 557

Management expenses (42 987 629) (42 801 398)

Life loss from insurance activities (118 220 569) (35 066 983)
Investment income 125 027 328 135 054 785
Fair value gains/(loss) from financial assets 25 676 798 (78 706 095)
Fair value (loss) from investment property (776 731) (1 464 466)
Increase in investment contract liabilities (22 039 216) (836 390)
Fee income from asset management 19 285 018 15 534 662
Asset management expenses (8 572 721) (6 258 303)
Interest income from loans to policyholders 9 108 082 8 452 728
Other operating income – 10 000

Operating profit before tax 29 487 988 36 719 938
Taxation (7 318 908) (9 738 506)

Operating profit after tax 22 169 080 26 981 432

ANNEXURE 2
for the year ended 31 December 2019



GENERAL INFORMATION
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The Board of Directors consisted of the following members during the year and up to the date of this report.
Kenneth Mbuli Chairman (resigned 31 December 2019)
Muhawu Maziya In-coming Chairman 
Mfanzile Dlamini  Member
Nico Conradie  Member
Dean Adams  Member
Pieter Bezuidenhout  Member
Franklin Sibanda Member (resigned September 2019)
Dumisile Ngwenya Member
Busangani Mkhaliphi Member (appointed September 2019)
Nokuthula Manyoha Member (appointed September 2019)

Executive Management
Zamokuhle Ngcobo – General Manager 
Mduduzi Dlamini – Assistant General Manager – Life and Finance
Musa Simelane – Assistant General Manager – Non-life 
Mandla Dlamini – Assistant General Manager – Corporate Services 

Registered Office
Postal Physical
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation Insika House
P O Box 917 Somhlolo Road
Mbabane Mbabane
H100 Eswatini

Actuaries
Deloitte & Touche Deloitte & Touche
Actuarial & Insurance Solutions Deloitte Place
Private Bag X6 The Woodland
Gallo Manor, 2052 Building 33, 2nd Floor
Gauteng 20 Woodlands Drive
South Africa Woodmead, Gauteng 
 South Africa

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers RHUS Office Park
PO Box 569 Kal Grant Street
Mbabane Mbabane
H100 Eswatini

Bankers
First National Bank Swaziland Limited
Nedbank Swaziland Limited
Standard Bank Swaziland Limited
Swaziland Building Society
Eswatini Development and Savings Bank

Investment Managers
African Alliance Swaziland Management Company Limited
STANLIB Asset Management Limited
ABSA Asset Management Limited
Allan Gray Asset Managers
Investec Asset Managers
Prudential Investment Managers
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